
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

KECK SENG INVESTMENTS 
(HONG KONG) LIMITED
Stock Code : 184



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

1ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial Highlights 2

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 4

Report of the Directors 11

Other Corporate Information 23

Profiles of Directors 25

Corporate Governance Report 28

Independent Auditor’s Report 46

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 52

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 53

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 54

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 56

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 57

Notes to the Financial Statements 58

Five Year Financial Summary 127

Schedule of Principal Properties 128

Sustainability Efforts and Awards in 2023 130

CONTENTS



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

2

For the year ended 31 December 2023

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total Assets 5,796,137 5,635,896
Total equity attributable to Equity Shareholders 3,118,380 2,936,799
Issued Share Capital 498,305 498,305
Revenue 1,738,354 1,429,488
Profit Before Taxation 341,877 129,823
Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders 219,656 76,302
Basic Earnings Per Share (cents) 64.6 22.4
Dividends Attributable to the year (cents per share) 11.0 5.0
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TSE See Fan Paul
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KWOK Chi Shun Arthur – Chairman
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YU Hon To David
Stephen TAN
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Stephen TAN – Chairman
WANG Poey Foon Angela
YU Hon To David
TSE See Fan Paul

AUDITORS
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(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in 
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial Calendar
Closure of registers of members1 Wednesday, 29 May 2024 to Monday,  

3 June 2024, both days inclusive
Annual General Meeting Monday, 3 June 2024
Ex-dividend date for final dividend Thursday, 6 June 2024
Closure of registers of members2 Tuesday, 11 June 2024 to Friday,  

14 June 2024, both days inclusive
Final dividend payable Thursday, 27 June 2024
Announcement of 2024 interim results August 2024

Notes:

1. For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting

2. For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, l am pleased to present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2023.

RESULTS
The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year 2023 amounted to 
HK$219,656,000 (HK$0.646 earnings per share), as compared to HK$76,302,000 (HK$0.224 earnings per share) 
in 2022.

DIVIDENDS
The Board is recommending that a final dividend of HK$0.08 per share (2022: HK$0.05) be paid for the year 
ended 31 December 2023, subject to equity shareholders’ approval of the final dividend at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. An interim dividend of HK$0.03 (2022: Nil) per share has already been 
paid.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The global economic environment in 2023 continued to be influenced by tight monetary measures adopted by 
various central banks, resulting in continuing high interest rates. Regional military conflicts and geopolitical 
turmoil also contributed to the incessant disruption of global supply chains, as well as high energy cost, all 
of which fed into higher operational costs for businesses, and higher cost of living for the general public. The 
resilience and strength of the US economy resulted in relative economic stability. On the other hand, recovery 
in China was not as robust as anticipated and continued to give rise to concerns. Against this background of an 
uneven global economic recovery, and the protraction of various forms of financial, economic and political risks, 
operations of the Group during 2023 was satisfactory but characterized by complexity and nuances.

The Group’s revenue for 2023 was HK$1,738.4 million, an increase of 21.6% as compared to HK$1,429.5 million 
in 2022. Operating profit for the Group amounted to HK$362.6 million, as compared with HK$162.1 million in 
2022.

A summary and analysis of the operations are as follows.

Property Leasing and Management Operations

Macau
Macau’s economy saw a significant resurgence in 2023, primarily due to the revival of tourism and strong growth 
in gaming revenue. The second half of the year, in particular, witnessed an impressive upswing driven by the 
easing of travel restrictions and a surge in tourism arrivals.

For 2023, Macau’s visitor arrivals increased by 395% year-on-year, with the full year’s visitor arrivals recovering 
to 72% of pre-pandemic 2019 level. Macau Government also reported that Macau’s GDP experienced a 
significant expansion of 80.5% in 2023, driven by growth in service exports, fixed capital formation, as well as 
private consumption, resulting in the GDP returning to 80% of 2019 level. The overall unemployment rate of 
Macau has further decreased from 3.5% in the fourth quarter of 2022 to 2.3% in the fourth quarter of 2023.

Macau’s property market in 2023 experienced a mixed impact against the backdrop of a rapidly recovering 
economy. The residential and service apartment sectors saw notable improvements due to the return of 
expatriates as well as the continuing l imited supply of qual ity apartments. However, the off ice market 
experienced a decline in demand, which was attributed to  the slow recovery of the local commercial sector, 
as well as the government’s transition from occupying private office buildings to constructing new government 
office buildings for their operating departments. This is expected to result in continuing downturns in the office 
market in 2024 and beyond.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Despite the mixed performance, the Group’s income from leasing of Macau properties showed a slight increase, 
reaching HK$83.1 million in 2023 compared to HK$82.0 million in 2022. This growth was driven by improved 
occupancy rates in residential properties and serviced apartments, benefiting from the returning expatriate 
population and limited supply suitable of high-end residential properties. Despite the decline in office demand, 
the Group’s office buildings still maintained high occupancy levels in both the past two years of 2022 and 2023, 
reflecting the high standard and popularity of our group’s office portfolio, and its resilience in the face of market 
challenges.

A net decrease in fair value of our investment properties of HK$12.5 million (2022: net increase of HK$3.9 million) 
was recorded. Our investment properties are held as long-term investments to earn recurring rental income.

There were no sales of properties in 2023 due to the post-pandemic impact and the ongoing slowdown in the 
Macau property market.

The Group has maintained its optimal sales strategy for property transactions and has remained vigilant in 
monitoring property market conditions. Additionally, the Group recognises the potential growth opportunities 
that may arise from Macau’s continuing post-COVID economic recovery. Also, several growth drivers including 
the recently launched Macau Light Rapid Transit System Barra extension line which connects Taipa Island 
to the Macau Peninsula, the increasing util isation by the public of the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge, 
the convenience offered by the new Hengqin immigration facility, the anticipated opening of the Shenzhen-
Zhongshan Bridge, and the enhanced integration with the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, are 
all expected to improve cross-border traffic and therefore will likely result in an enlargement of the population 
catchment area being drawn to Macau.

Most of the Group’s assets in Macau are held by Golden Crown Development Ltd, in which  the Group had 
70.61% equity interest.

Hotel Operations
Occupancy Average Room Rate

2023 2022 2023 2022

The People’s Republic of China
Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside 56% 51% RMB403 RMB305

Vietnam
Sheraton Saigon Hotel and Towers 76% 55% USD172 USD148
Caravelle Hotel 72% 52% USD150 USD122

Japan
Best Western Hotel Fino  

Osaka Shinsaibashi 75% 41% JPY9,444 JPY6,326

The United States
W San Francisco 67% 69% USD336 USD305
Sofitel New York 77% 61% USD389 USD387

Canada
The Sheraton Ottawa Hotel 69% 57% CAD216 CAD199
Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto  

Airport & Conference Centre 70% 62% CAD177 CAD158
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

In 2023, the global hospitality industry experienced positive growth following the end of the pandemic, as the 
partial resumption of domestic and international travel by business and leisure travellers resulted in a notable 
increase in demand for hotel rooms. The hospitality sector demonstrated resilience throughout the year, with a 
particularly robust performance in the second half of 2023. This resilience was underpinned by the crucial role 
played by domestic demand, which played a vital part in driving the sector’s overall path of recovery. However, 
different geographical regions have displayed varying degrees of improvement reacting to their respective 
distinct market dynamics and recovery trajectories, with notable advancements observed in the markets of North 
America and Japan.

Total revenue for the hotel operations increased to HK$1,639.0 mill ion in 2023, an increase of 23.1% as 
compared to HK$1,331.0 million in 2022. Profit for the hotel operations was HK$239.9 million as compared to 
HK$79.0 million in 2022. This year’s results benefited from the reversal of an impairment loss on a hotel property 
amounting to HK$58.3 million, as well as a bank loan forgiveness of HK$58.5 million received through the 
Paycheck Protection Program administered by the United States Government.

The People’s Republic of China
In 2023, China’s economy experienced a modest rebound, amidst a mix of positive and challenging set of 
circumstances. Despite recovery from the pandemic-induced downturn, the economic rebound had fallen 
short of expectations, raising concerns about its sustainability. According to the National Bureau of Statistics 
of China,  China’s GDP in 2023 grew by 5.2%, surpassing the government’s growth target and demonstrating 
improvement compared to the 3% recorded in 2022, a year that suffered significant disruptions due to strict 
“COVID-zero” measures. However, this growth against a low basis in 2022 is notably less than the levels 
consistently enjoyed in the earlier years, which ranged between 6% to 7%.

Additionally, China faced a range of challenges that negatively impacted its economic outlook, including a 
continuing property sector crisis, deflationary risks, rising unemployment, weak consumer purchases, falling 
exports, and declining business confidence. External factors, such as intensified geopolitical tensions, global 
economic uncertainty, and high interest rates in developed economies, added risks to China’s economic 
prospects.

Nevertheless, despite these challenges, the hospitality sector in China demonstrated improvement in 2023, 
primarily driven by the resurgence of domestic demand.

Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside (Group’s interest: 41.26%)
Room revenue of the hotel increased to RMB24.9 million in 2023 as compared to RMB17.3 million in 2022, an 
increase of 43.5%. The food and beverage revenue of the hotel has also increased to RMB11.4 million in 2023 
from RMB7.4 million in 2022, an increase of 53.9%.

During 2023, occupancy rate has slightly increased to 55.5%, as compared to 51.1% in 2022. Average room rate 
was at RMB403 per room night in 2023, as compared to RMB305 per room night in 2022.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Vietnam
In 2023, Vietnam’s economy is experienced a significant slowdown, reporting a growth rate of 5.05% for the 
country’s GDP. This marked a notable decline from the robust 8% growth achieved in 2022. The slowdown 
in economic growth was attributed to the substantial moderation of growth momentum during the first three 
quarters of 2023, largely influenced by the weakening performance of industrial production, particularly in the 
manufacturing sector, as well as a decline in global and Chinese demand for its exports.

Vietnamese tourism, on the other hand, experienced a remarkable recovery in 2023, fuelled by strong arrivals 
from both foreign and domestic sources. The country welcomed 12.6 million international visitors, which was 
3.4 times higher compared to the previous year, although still at around 70% of pre-pandemic level in 2019. 
Domestic tourism flourished, with 108 million domestic tourists surpassing the pre-pandemic figure of 85 million 
visitors recorded in 2019. This combined recovery from both international and domestic sources demonstrates 
the Strength of Vietnam’s tourism sector.

The Group’s revenue from Vietnam increased to HK$716.1 million in 2023, as compared to HK$593.5 million in 
2022, an increase of 20.7%.

For the third year in a row, both Sheraton Saigon Hotel and Towers and Caravelle Hotel were awarded the 
Travelers’ Choice Winner by TripAdvisor in 2023.

Caravelle Hotel was also awarded the Best Luxury City Hotel in Vietnam by the World Luxury Hotel Awards and 
the Luxury Lifestyle Awards in 2023.

Sheraton Saigon Hotel and Towers (Group’s interest: 64.12%)
Sheraton Saigon Hotel & Towers’ occupancy rate has increased to 76.3% as compared to 55.4% in 2022. 
Average room rate was at US$172 per room night in 2023, as compared to US$148 per room night in 2022. The 
hotel’s financial performance in terms of gross operating profit in 2023 was increased by 44.7% year-on-year.

Caravelle Hotel (Group’s interest: 24.99%)
Caravelle Hotel’s occupancy rate has increased to 71.8%, as compared to 51.5% in 2022. Average room rate 
was at US$150 per room night in 2023, as compared to US$122 per room night in 2022.

Japan
Throughout 2023, Japan encountered economic challenges and obstacles, with the economy experiencing 
contractions in both last two quarters. Adding to the difficulties, the value of the yen has declined considerably 
against the US dollar over the preceding two years. Consequently, Japan slipped to being the world’s fourth-
largest economy, trailing behind Germany. Despite this setback, Japan’s real GDP demonstrated resilience by 
achieving a 1.9% growth rate in 2023, surpassing the 1.0% expansion recorded in 2022. The strength of its stock 
market has also instilled confidence in the economy.

The hotel industry experienced a significant improvement in 2023, particularly in Japan’s tier I cities like Tokyo 
and Osaka, with strong operational performance. The easing of border restrictions and the depreciation of the 
yen contributed to Japan receiving 25 million visitors, which represented a recovery to nearly 80% of the pre-
pandemic level in 2019. To be noted is the fact that domestic tourism played a crucial role in this positive trend.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Best Western Hotel Fino Osaka Shinsaibashi (Group’s interest: 100%)
Hotel performance has significantly improved in 2023. Turning into operating profit in 2023 with an increase in 
occupancy rates to 75.3%, as compared to 40.9% in 2022. Average room rate was at JPY9,444 per room night 
in 2023, as compared to JPY6,326 per room night in 2022.

The United States (“US”)
In 2023, the US economy demonstrated remarkable strength, surpassing expectations and showing resilience, 
with a 2.5% expansion compared to 1.9% in 2022. This growth dispelled concerns of a recession and was mainly 
driven by a strong job market, robust consumer spending, increased investment in manufacturing infrastructures, 
and higher state and local government purchases and investments. The unemployment rate remained 
consistently low at 3.6% throughout the year, marking an unprecedented 22 consecutive months below 4%, the 
longest period in over 50 years. Additionally, there were indications of inflation moderating, with a downward 
trend observed for the past year and a half since its peak in the summer of 2022.

The US hotel industry demonstrated resilience and achieved notable progress in its recovery in 2023. Strong 
domestic demand played a crucial role in driving the industry’s resurgence. As the economy grew and consumer 
spending remained robust, there was a notable increase in travel and hotel bookings,  contributing to the 
industry’s recovery. However, as we turn our gaze to 2024, it is important to acknowledge the presence of 
significant risks, including potential impacts from changes in monetary policies, fiscal challenges, geopolitical 
conflicts, and the forthcoming polarizing US presidential election.

The New York hospitality market rebounded in 2023 and became the highest-performing hotel city in the US 
during the fourth quarter. However, San Francisco lagged behind other major cities, struggling to reach its pre-
pandemic tourism levels from 2019. Factors such as reduced convention attendance, declining employment 
in the tech sector, the migration of tech companies to other locations, remote work, and issues such as rising 
crime and homelessness have significantly impacted San Francisco’s recovery and reputation. Moreover, the full 
recovery of both domestic and international business travel has not yet been attained, significantly impacting 
tech-centric cities like San Francisco where the high-spending business travel sector has been particularly 
affected by the rise of remote work.

Sofitel New York was awarded the AAA Four Diamond Award by American Automobile Association (“AAA”) and 
Forbes Travel Guide Recommended Award by Forbes Travel Guide in 2023 for the third consecutive years.

W San Francisco (Group’s interest: 100%)
W San Francisco’s occupancy slightly decreased to 66.5% in 2023, as compared to 68.8% in 2022. Average 
room rate was US$336 per room night in 2023, as compared to US$305 per room night in 2022.

Sofitel New York (Group’s interest: 100%)
Sofitel New York’s occupancy rate increased to 76.6% in 2023, as compared to 61.2% in 2022. Average room 
rate was at US$389 per room night in 2023, as compared to US$387 per room night in 2022.

In 2023, there was a notable improvement in the operating conditions and market outlook for Sofitel New York, 
resulting in an impairment reversal of HK$58.3 million.

Canada
In 2023, the Canadian economy experienced a slowdown due to persistent inflation and high interest rates, 
leading to negative impact on consumer spending and business investment. Despite these challenges, Canada 
successfully avoided a recession, with a GDP growth rate of 1.2% in 2023. The unemployment rate slightly 
increased from 5.3% in 2022 to 5.4% in 2023.



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

9ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Despite facing such challenges, the Canadian hospitality sector made substantial progress. The sector witnessed 
a significant rise in demand driven primarily by domestic travellers.

The Sheraton Ottawa Hotel (Group’s interest: 85%)
Occupancy rate of Sheraton Ottawa Hotel increased to 68.7% in 2023 versus 57.0% in 2022. Average room rate 
was C$216 per room night in 2023 versus C$199 per room night in 2022.

The Sheraton Ottawa Hotel, subject to the disposal, has been classified as assets held for sale as of 31 
December 2023. The disposal was completed on 29 February 2024 with gain before taxation and transaction 
costs on disposal of approximately CAD28,014,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$161,622,000).

Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto Airport & Conference Centre (Group’s interest: 25%)
Occupancy rate of Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto Airport & Conference Centre increased to 69.7% in 2023 as 
compared to 61.6% in 2022. Average room rate was C$177 per room night in 2023 as compared to C$158 per 
room night in 2022.

Other net gains/losses
Net exchange gains for 2023 amounted to HK$5.6 million, as compared net exchange losses of HK$7.5 million in 
2022.

Net realised and unrealised losses on derivative financial instruments amounted to HK$4.9 million in 2023, as 
compared to gains of HK$10.7 million in 2022.

Net unrealised gain on other non-current financial assets amount to HK$12.8 million recognised in 2023, as 
compared to HK$9.3 million in 2022. These were mainly related to our investment in A2I Holdings S.A.R.L., which 
owns 6.75% (2022: 6.75%) equity shares of Accorlnvest Group S.A..

Net unrealised losses on trading securities for 2023 amounted to HK$1.6 million, as compared to net unrealised 
gains of HK$0.2 million in 2022.

Loans forgiveness & government grants
During the year, the Company and its subsidiary obtained loans forgiveness of HK$58.5 million under the 
Paycheck Protection Program administered by the United States Government.

In 2022, the Company and its subsidiary received subsidies of approximately HK$7.3 million from the Temporary 
Wage Subsidy Scheme implemented by the Canadian Government.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

PROSPECTS
Looking ahead, it is clear that the global economy will continue to face substantial uncertainties. Numerous 
macro factors, including escalating geopolitical tensions and resulting disruptions to global supply chains, as 
well as a prevailing high interest-rate environment, will continue to pose challenges to the global economic 
outlook and the overall business environment. While uncertainties persist regarding the near-term trajectory of 
US interest rates, the transition from a rate-hike cycle to a downward trend is anticipated to create favorable 
conditions for the world economy.

The future of Macau’s property market offers opportunities for growth, supported by economic stabilization, 
increased tourism, and infrastructure improvements. Additionally, the limited new supply in the luxury sector, 
is expected to contribute to price stability. We are confident in the longer-term outlook for Macau. However, 
factors such as inflation, interest rates, and China’s economic recovery could impact market dynamics. Our 
ongoing focus will be on increasing occupancy and maximizing tenant retention through the implementation of 
competitive leasing strategies.

The Group’s hospitality sector maintains cautious optimism for 2024 as the global tourism industry rebounds. 
An anticipated recovery in Chinese outbound travel in 2024 is expected to have a positive impact on Asia and 
U.S. gateway cities. However, challenges such as labour shortages and rising costs persist. Additionally, various 
factors such as the global economic outlook, currency exchange rate volatility, insufficient airline capacity, and 
changes in consumer behaviour, influenced by geopolitical challenges, especially among Mainland Chinese 
tourists, will continue to shape the hospitality industry and market. The Group remains dedicated to adapting 
and enhancing its hospitality offerings in response to the evolving needs and expectations of our valued 
guests. To ensure competitiveness, we are continuously undertaking renovations and implementing progressive 
improvements throughout our hotels.

The Group maintains a robust financial position with HK$1,511.7 million in cash, bank balances, and short-term 
bank deposits as of 31 December 2023. We will focus on reviewing potential investments that create long-term 
value for shareholders on a sustainable basis. Our approach to acquisitions remains disciplined and pragmatic, 
targeting industries and regions where we have experience and comparative advantages.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report together with the audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are hotel and club operations, property 
investment and development and the provision of management services.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and those of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 
12 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations of the Group during the 
financial year are set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s principal activities and business review as required by Schedule 5 
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by 
the Group, indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, analysis of the Group’s performance 
during the year and the material factors underlying its results and financial position, can be found in “Chairman’s 
Statement”, “Other Corporate Information” and “Corporate Governance Report” as set out on pages 4 to 10, 23 
to 24 and 28 to 45 respectively, of this Annual Report. The environmental and social matters of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report 
2023, which is available on the Stock Exchange’s website and Company’s website. This discussion forms part of 
this “Report of the Directors”.

ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG)
ESG Governance
Sustainability and environmental conservation are important issues for our customers, suppliers, shareholders, 
employees and governments of respective countries, and the general public. The Group commits to the long- 
term sustainability of its businesses and communities where our stakeholders work and reside. We aim to do 
businesses fairly, ethically and in accordance with local laws that promote and safeguard fair competition 
between businesses. We seek to work with contractors and suppl iers that behave in an economical , 
environmentally friendly and socially responsible manner.

The Group acknowledges sustainable development is crucial for its long-term success and considers that there 
is a close linkage between its ESG strategy and business operations. Our hotels strictly follow their hotel chains’ 
sustainability goals and targets which consist of reduction of environmental impact, community and employee 
development, and human rights initiatives. ESG strategy and policies facilitate the Group’s understanding of its 
exposure to emerging environmental and social risks, and its linkage to new commercial opportunities.

ESG governance structure
ESG reporting is the process by which the Group gathers data to monitor, control, and manage its environmental 
performance and social responsibil it ies. To review the Group’s ESG performance, reporting is a regular 
agenda item in the Audit and Compliance Committee meeting and the Board meeting. The Board has overall 
responsibility to evaluate and manage material ESG issues identified, and as well as the progress on ESG issues 
for ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. The 
local management of each major reporting entity is accountable for ESG management of the business units, with 
the scope as well as roles and responsibilities of ESG management being well defined in each entity.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Environment
The Group maintains a global perspective on managing our emissions, minimizing consumption of fresh 
water and energy. The local management of each major reporting entity is accountable to ESG management, 
performance and reporting. The Group (including its subsidiaries and associates) has complied with al l 
environmental regulations and internal policies related to environmental responsibility. The Group aims to 
improve our performance continually in line with best practices, and to be prepared to respond to future 
challenges and opportunities on sustainable development.

The Group understands that the intensifying situation of climate change poses potential risks to our business 
and hence we must put resilience at our operations, be well-prepared and be vigilant to the potential damages. 
Such risks include physical and transition. In response to these, the Group has established a risk management 
system and procedures to monitor, manage and control climate change impacts. Particular measures include the 
preparation of disaster recovery plans to handle unexpected emergencies etc. The Group is aware that electricity 
is the major contributor of its energy usage. Thus, the Group had taken a proactive approach to implement 
energy-saving initiatives for both on-site operation and site offices of the Properties, from using low- impact LED 
lighting devices to switching off idling lightings and electrical appliances.

Our hotels actively participate in environment-friendly initiatives organized by their respective hotel chains. We 
aim to minimize emissions, waste production and use of resources.

Emission
In alignment with our commitment to environmental stewardship, the hotels we invested adheres strictly to the 
local pertinent air quality and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission regulations. We are dedicated to our emission 
reduction goal which is minimizing emissions in our daily hotel operations. To achieve our goals, we’ve 
implemented centralized laundry systems to reduce operational times and emissions, upgraded boilers to more 
efficient steam generators, introduced electronic shuttle buses, installed air curtains in main kitchen areas to 
conserve air conditioning, and expanded our use of solar energy by installing additional panels on hotel and 
grand tower rooftops.

Waste
In terms of wastes, all of our properties have been making their best efforts to reduce waste production and 
recycle as much waste as possible. The waste reduction measures include but not limited to:

•	 Engaging	qualified	waste	management	company	for	actual	handling	of	wastes	and	disposal	matters	that	is	
complying with applicable laws;

•	 Regularly	and	systematically	collecting	non-hazardous	waste	and	hazardous	waste;

•	 Asking	the	suppliers	to	recall	the	chemical	barrels,	ink	cartridge;	and

•	 Separating	hazardous	and	non-hazardous	wastes

Whilst waste-reduction efforts are made through recycling, wastes that cannot be recycled would either go to 
landfills (for non-hazardous waste) or be specially handled by third party contractors (for hazardous waste).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Use of Resource
Our property management and hotel operations produce wastes such as food scraps, oil and cleaning chemical 
disposals. In addition, a significant amount of water, electricity, diesel and gas need to be utilized for daily 
operations. The Group commits to put our best effort on achieving our resources saving goal, maximizing the 
efficiency of water and energy usage.

Continuous efforts have been made in three major categories (Waste recycling, Energy and water saving and 
Donation of unused materials or linens) by our properties to minimize our operations’ impact on the environment 
and natural resources, therefore we are pleased to state that the Group is not aware of any significant impact on 
natural resources as a result of our operations.

Customers
The Group maintain mutually beneficial relationship with the customers and strive to provide quality service. The 
Group’s properties mainly provide property management, property sale and leasing, hotel room accommodation 
and food and beverage services.

The Group puts customers at the heart of our business. Product and service-related complaints from customers 
are replied and followed up promptly. Our management and staffs also ensure that such complaints are resolved 
in a satisfactory manner.

Our property management business in Macau (Ocean Gardens) is ISO9001:2015 certified. In order to achieve 
this accreditation, we are required to demonstrate our ability to provide services that meet customer needs and 
applicable regulatory requirements. Our hotel properties have stringent quality assurance procedures in place to 
ensure service provided is in accordance with international hotel chain requirements.

Suppliers
Suppliers and contractors are selected based on work quality, stock delivery manner, cooperation and price. The 
Group seeks to work with contractors and suppliers that behave in an economical, environmentally friendly and 
socially responsible manner.

Where possible, the Group purchases environmentally friendly products from qualified vendors to reduce the 
negative effects on the environment.

Employee
The Group treasures talent as it is the foundation of the Company’s business growth and key for driving success 
and maintaining sustainable development. Since the Company invests in properties across the globe, we 
embrace workplace diversity in order to bring in the best talents, provide broader range of services, better cater 
to our customers’ needs, and enable our employees to perform to their highest ability.

We also believe attracting and retaining loyal employees in the respective geographical areas of operations is 
key to our success. Salary and remuneration are competitive and are based on varying conditions in different 
countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate. Discretionary bonus is paid out according to the 
performance of the employees and the policies of the company. To help our employees develop their careers, 
employees with exceptional performance and the required experience are considered for promotion when such 
opportunities are available. We are also an equal opportunity employer and aim to provide a work environment 
that is respectful, challenging, rewarding and safe. We have policies covering training and development, labour 
practices, human rights and workplace health and safety. A policy of localizing as many of the positions as 
possible is in place throughout the Group, subject to suitable and sufficient local executives and staff with 
relevant qualifications and experiences being available. There are over 92% of our employees are locally 
employed. We pursue the highest standards of integrity and honesty from every employee in every process.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Community Investment
Social sustainability and community investments are essential to our responsible operation and are valued in our 
communities. The Group conducts business with honesty, integrity and respect for all people and communities, 
especially towards our employees. Dialogue between management and employees is integral to our work 
practices and takes place daily and directly in the respective local cultural environments.

Compliance with relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group’s principal activities are property investment and development. Other activities include hotel 
operations, building management and club operations. Operations are carried out mainly in Macau, Vietnam, 
the People’s Republic of China, Canada, United States and Hong Kong. The law and regulation relating to the 
Group’s operations include but not limited to the following:

Issues of Concern Major laws or regulations
Environment and Emission •	 the	Basic	Environment	Impact	Assessment	Law	of	Japan;

•	 the	Japan	Air	Pollution	Control	Law;
•	 the	Environmental	Protection	Law	of	the	People’s	Republic	of	China;
•	 the	Air	Pollution	Prevention	and	Control	Law	of	the	People’s	Republic	of	

China;
•	 Ontario’s	Ambient	Air	Quality	Criteria;	and
•	 Vietnam’s	Law	on	Economical	&	Efficient	Use	of	Energy,	and	regulations	

on hazardous waste management
Labour & Workplace Safety •	 Macau	Labor	Law	and	Regulations;	

•	 Regulations	of	Hubei	Province	Concerning	the	Labor	Protection	of	
Female Staff and Workers (湖北省女職工勞動保護條例); and

•	 Hubei	Province	Labor	and	Social	Security	Supervision	Regulations（湖北
省勞動與社會保障監察條例）

•	 Decree	No.	136/2020/ND-CP	guiding	the	Law	on	Fire	Prevention	and	
Fighting of Vietnam;

•	 Hubei	Work	Safety	Regulations	(湖北安全生產條例);
•	 Law	No.	84/2015/QH13	on	Occupational	Safety	and	Hygiene;
•	 Vietnam	Labor	Code	2019;
•	 Hubei	Province	Labor	Contract	Regulations	(湖北省勞動契約規定);
•	 Occupational	Health	and	Safety	Act	(OHSA);	and
•	 Macau	Labor	Law	and	Regulations

Product Responsibility •	 Vietnam	Food	Safety	Law	2010	No:	55/2010/QH12
•	 Trademark	Law	of	the	People’s	Republic	of	China
•	 China	Tourism	Hotel	Industry	Standards
•	 The	Personal	Information	Protection	and	Electronic	Documents	Act	

(PIPEDA)
Anti-Corruption •	 Law	on	Anti-Corruption	No.	36/2018/QH14;

•	 Corruption	of	Foreign	Public	Officials	Act	1998;	and
•	 Macau	CCAC	Anti-corruption	laws

There is an adequate measurement and monitoring system employed to implement ESG strategy which indicates 
that the business operations have complied with the requirements of local laws & regulations (if required) and 
relevant hotel brands’ rules & regulations on an ongoing process. During the year, there was no reported incident 
of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on Group’s business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2023:

(i) the aggregate amount of purchases (not including the purchases of items which are of a capital nature) 
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

(ii) the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented less than 
30% of the Group’s total revenue.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The profit or loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of the Company’s and the 
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 52 to 126.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES
Profit attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of HK$219,656,000 (2022: HK$76,302,000) have 
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves of the Company are set out in Note 24 to the financial 
statements.

DIVIDEND
An interim dividend of HK$0.03 per share (2022: Nil) was paid on 26 October 2023. The Board now recommend 
the payment of final dividend of HK$0.08 per share (2022: HK$0.05 per share) in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$294,947 (2022: HK$529,126).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
HO Kim Swee @ HO Kian Guan (Executive Chairman)
HO Cheng Chong @ HO Kian Hock (Deputy Executive Chairman)
TSE See Fan Paul
CHAN Lui Ming Ivan
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn (retired with effect from 30 April 2023)*
HO Chung Tao (resigned with effect from 31 March 2023)#

HO Chung Hui
HO Chung Kain @ HE Chongjing (Alternate to HO Chung Hui)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors
HO Eng Chong @ HO Kian Cheong
HO Chung Kiat Sydney @ HE Chongjie Sydney (Alternate to HO Kian Cheong)

Independent Non-executive Directors
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur
WANG Poey Foon Angela
YU Hon To David
Stephen TAN

Note:

* Ms. YU Yuet Chu Evelyn reached the retirement age and has tendered to resign as an Executive Director with effect from 
30 April 2023.

# Mr. HO Chung Tao has resigned as an executive director of the Company in order to devote more time to his other 
commitments, with effect from 31 March 2023.

Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Hui, Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and Mr. KWOK Chi Shun Arthur will retire as 
Directors in accordance with Article 116 of the Articles of Association and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

Mr. Kwok, who has been serving as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company for more than 9 years, 
has confirmed his independence with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On the 
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board form the view that the retiring Independent Non- 
executive Director is independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The Company has not entered into service contracts with any of the above Directors. However, the Company has 
entered into a letter of appointment as Director with each of the above Directors.

The Non-executive Directors are not appointed for a fixed period of term but are subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with Company ’s Articles of 
Association.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive 
Directors to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The names of directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company the year and up to the 
date of the report are set below:

(In alphabetical order)

CHAN Lui Ming Ivan
HO Chung Hui
HO Chung Kain
HO Chung Tao
HO Kian Guan
HO Kian Hock
HO Pansy Catilina Chiu King
HOANG Hai Dang
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur
LEE Hwee Leng
LEE Sek Yean
NG Sing Beng
NGUYEN Dinh Phu
PENG Xing Wang
Satoshi KISHIMOTO
SITOU Tek Lam Johnny
TSE See Fan Paul
TSE Yee Ming
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year under review, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions which are not exempt 
from the annual reporting requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the year under review in the ordinary 
course of business are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. Such related party transactions are all 
exempt connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
The Directors of the Company who held office as at 31 December 2023 had the following interests in the shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (the “Associated Corporations”) at that date as recorded 
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuer (the “Model Code”):
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Number of ordinary shares (unless otherwise specified)
Long Positions:

Name of Company Name of Directors
Personal 

Interests(1)

Corporate/
Other 

Interests Total
% 

Interest

Keck Seng Investments HO Kian Guan 496,480 198,084,320(2) 198,580,800 58.37
(Hong Kong) Limited HO Kian Hock 20,480 198,084,320(2) 198,104,800 58.23

HO Kian Cheong 55,160,480 – 55,160,480 16.21
TSE See Fan Paul 288,720 – 288,720 0.08
Stephen TAN – 900,000(3) 900,000 0.26

Lam Ho Investments Pte Ltd HO Kian Guan – 32,410,774(4) 32,410,774 99.70
HO Kian Hock – 32,410,774(4) 32,410,774 99.70
HO Kian Cheong 96,525 – 96,525 0.30

Shun Seng International Limited HO Kian Guan – 83,052(5) 83,052 83.05
HO Kian Hock – 83,052(5) 83,052 83.05
HO Kian Cheong 1,948 – 1,948 1.95

Hubei	Qing	Chuan	Hotel HO Kian Guan – 13,163,880(6) 13,163,880 80.76
Company Limited HO Kian Hock – 13,163,880(6) 13,163,880 80.76
– paid in registered capital in US$ HO Kian Cheong 1,017,120 – 1,017,120 6.24

KWOK Chi Shun Arthur – 489,000(7) 489,000 3.00

Golden Crown Development Limited HO Kian Guan – 56,675,000(8) 56,675,000 80.96
– common shares HO Kian Hock – 56,675,000(8) 56,675,000 80.96

HO Kian Cheong 1,755,000 – 1,755,000 2.51
TSE See Fan Paul 50,000 – 50,000 0.07

Ocean Gardens Management HO Kian Guan – 1,000,000(9) 1,000,000 100.00
Company Limited HO Kian Hock – 1,000,000(9) 1,000,000 100.00

Shun Cheong International Limited HO Kian Guan – 4,305(10) 4,305 43.05
HO Kian Hock – 4,305(10) 4,305 43.05
HO Kian Cheong 195 – 195 1.95
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur – 5,500(11) 5,500 55.00

KSF Enterprises Sdn Bhd HO Kian Guan – 31,705,000(12) 31,705,000 100.00
– ordinary shares HO Kian Hock – 31,705,000(12) 31,705,000 100.00

KSF Enterprises Sdn Bhd HO Kian Guan – 24,000,000(13) 24,000,000 100.00
– Redeemable Convertible Preference HO Kian Hock – 24,000,000(13) 24,000,000 100.00

Chateau Ottawa Hotel Inc. HO Kian Guan – 9,000,000(14) 9,000,000 100.00
– common shares HO Kian Hock – 9,000,000(14) 9,000,000 100.00

Chateau Ottawa Hotel Inc. HO Kian Guan – 2,700,000(15) 2,700,000 100.00
– preferred shares HO Kian Hock – 2,700,000(15) 2,700,000 100.00
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Notes:

(1) This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial owners.

(2) This represents 101,437,360 shares held by Kansas Holdings Limited and 96,646,960 shares held by Goodland Limited. 
Both companies are subsidiaries of KS Ocean Inc., the controlling shareholder of the Company, in which each of HO Kian 
Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest in its ordinary share and preference share, respectively.

(3) This represents 180,000 shares held by Stephen Tan as one of the joint executors/administrators of the estate of Chan 
Yau Hing, Robin and 720,000 shares held by United Asia Enterprises Inc which is controlled corporation of Stephen Tan.

(4) This represents 29,776,951 shares (91.6%) indirectly held by the Company and 2,633,823 shares (8.1%) held by Kansas 
Holdings Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(5) This represents 75,010 shares (75.01%) indirectly held by the Company and 8,042 shares (8.04%) held by Kansas 
Holdings Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(6) This represents US$8,965,000 (55%) indirectly contributed by the Company and US$4,198,880 (25.76%) contributed by 
Kansas Holdings Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(7) This represents interests held by AKAA Project Management International Limited which was wholly owned by KWOK Chi 
Shun Arthur.

(8) This represents 49,430,000 shares (70.61%) indirectly held by the Company and 7,245,000 shares (10.35%) held by 
various companies in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(9) This represents 1 quota of Ptc999,000 (99.9%) indirectly held by the Company and 1 quota of Ptc1,000 (0.1%) held by 
Goodland Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(10) This represents 3,501 shares (35.01%) indirectly held by the Company and 804 shares (8.04%) held by Kansas Holdings 
Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(11) This represents interests held by Ample Star Enterprise Limited, in which KWOK Chi Shun Arthur had a controlling 
interest.

(12) This represents 7,926,250 ordinary shares (25%) directly held by the Company, 7,926,249 ordinary shares (25%) held by 
Kansas Holdings Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly and 15,852,501 
ordinary shares (50%) held by Keck Seng (Malaysia) Bhd in which each of HO Kian Guan and Ho Kian Hock was a 
substantial shareholder and a director.

(13) This represents 6,000,000 Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares (25%) directly held by the Company, 6,000,000 
Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares (25%) held by Kansas Holdings Limited in which each of HO Kian Guan and 
HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly and 12,000,000 Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares (50%) held by Keck 
Seng (Malaysia) Bhd in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock was a substantial shareholder and a director.

(14) This represents 7,650,000 common shares (85%) indirectly held by the Company; 1,350,000 common shares (15%) held 
by KSC Enterprises Ltd. in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

(15) This represents 2,295,000 preferred shares (85%) indirectly held by the Company; 405,000 preferred shares (15%) held 
by KSC Enterprises Ltd. in which each of HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock had 1/3 interest indirectly.

Save as mentioned above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors of the Company or any of their 
associates had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any 
of its Associated Corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of those persons (other than the directors) in the 
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 
under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Positions:

Name Capacity in which shares were held

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

% of total 
issued share 
capital of the 

Company

KS Ocean Inc. (Note 1, 2) Interests of controlled corporations 198,084,320 58.23
Pad Inc. (Note 1) Interests of controlled corporations 96,646,960 28.41
Lapford Limited (Note 1) Interests of controlled corporations 96,646,960 28.41
Kansas Holdings Limited (Note 1) Interests of controlled corporations 96,646,960 28.41
Kansas Holdings Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 101,437,360 29.82
Goodland Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 96,646,960 28.41

Notes:

(1) KS Ocean Inc., Pad Inc., Lapford Limited and Kansas Holdings Limited had deemed interests in the same 96,646,960 
shares beneficially held by Goodland Limited.

(2) KS Ocean Inc. had deemed interests in the same 101,437,360 shares beneficially held by Kansas Holdings Limited.

Save as mentioned above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been notified of any interests and 
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which had been recorded in the register 
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS
During the year, there existed the following arrangements:

(1) Goodland Limited (“Goodland”) acts as the project manager of Golden Crown Development Limited for 
its Ocean Gardens development in Taipa Island, Macau for a management fee and is also responsible for 
marketing the development.

(2) Goodland provides management services to Ocean Incorporation Ltd in return for a management fee.

Messrs. HO Kian Guan and HO Kian Hock were interested in the above arrangements as they were directors and 
had 1/3 interest of Goodland indirectly.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed, if any, in the section entitled “Connected Transactions”, “Related Party Transactions” and 
“Management Arrangements”, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, 
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS
A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the 
benefit of the directors of the company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in certain businesses (apart from the business of 
the Company or its subsidiaries) which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with 
the principal businesses of the Company or its subsidiaries conducted during the year, which would require 
disclosure under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
Changes in Director’s biographical details up to the date of this report, which are required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, is set out below:

(1) Directors’ remuneration was changed during the year. Details of the Directors’ remuneration were set out 
in Note 7 to the financial statements.

(2) Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan decided to waive part of his basic salary for the year. Details were set out in Note 
7 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed, there is no other information that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules.

The updated biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out in the section headed “Profiles 
of Directors” in this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES
No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities was made by the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries during the year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group at 31 December 2023 are set out 
in Note 19, Note 22 and Note 28 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of 
the Company as at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under 
the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 127 of the Annual Report.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of the properties and property interests of the Group are shown on page 128 to 129 of the Annual 
Report.

PERSONNEL AND RETIREMENT SCHEMES
At 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 1,843 employees. A policy of localising as many of the 
positions as possible is in place throughout the Group, subject to suitable and sufficient local executives and 
staff with relevant qualifications and experiences being available. Salary and remuneration are competitive and 
are based on varying conditions in the different countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate. The 
Group has defined contribution schemes in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of China, Vietnam, the 
United States, Canada and Japan.

All the emoluments payable to the Directors were in respect of their services as directors or their services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and/ or its subsidiary undertakings.

AUDITORS
KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of 
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

By Order of the Board

HO Kian Guan
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Group’s revenue was HK$1,738.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, an increase of 21.6% as 
compared to the year 2022. The increase was primarily due to the rebound of the Group’s hotel business.

The Group’s operating profit was HK$362.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which includes a 
reversal of an impairment loss on a hotel property of HK$58.3 million and a bank loan forgiveness of HK$58.5 
million received through the Paycheck Protection Program administered by the United States Government, as 
compared to HK$162.1 million in 2022.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders amounted to HK$219.7 million as compared to the HK$76.3 million in 
2022. The increase in profit of the Group in 2023 was mainly attributable to increase in hotel business.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPIs”)
The Group sets a number of KPIs to support the delivery of its strategies with its performance as below:

Operational KPIs:
2023

Occupancy
2022

Occupancy
Operation and investment Country Star rated Currency Rate ARR Rate ARR

Sofitel New York USA 5 USD 77% 389 61% 387
W San Francisco USA 5 USD 67% 336 69% 305
Sheraton Saigon Hotel & 

Towers
Vietnam 5 USD 76% 172 55% 148

Caravelle Hotel Vietnam 5 USD 72% 150 52% 122
Sheraton Ottawa Hotel Canada 4 CAD 69% 216 57% 199
Delta Hotels by Marriott 

Toronto Airport & 
Conference Centre

Canada 4 CAD 70% 177 62% 158

Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside PRC 4 RMB 56% 403 51% 305
Best Western Hotel Fino  

Osaka Shinsaibashi
Japan 3 YEN 75% 9,444 41% 6,326

•	 Occupancy	Rate	 (Total	number	of	Rooms	Nights	booked	relative	to	Total	number	of	Available	Rooms	Nights	 for	Guests	
over the year)

•	 Average	Room	Rate	(Total	Room	Revenue	divided	by	Total	Room	Nights	Occupied)
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OTHER CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Financial KPIs:
Strategy KPIs Calculation basis

To maintain a healthy liquidity ratio Bank loan to Total assets ratio  
= 24% (2022: 25%)

Percentage of Total bank loans 
relative to the Total assets as  
at the respective year end

Leverage ratio  
= 35% (2022: 37%)

Percentage of Total liabilities  
relative to the Total assets as  
at the respective year end

To maintain a healthy cash flow Times interest covered by Profits  
= 3 (2022: 2)

Ratio of Profit for the year to 
Finance costs

Times interest covered  
by Deposits and cash  
= 15 (2022: 27)

Ratio of Deposits and cash  
(including pledged deposits) to 
Finance costs

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023, hotel properties including land, and certain properties held for sale with an aggregate 
value of HK$1,899.6 million (2022: HK$1,895.0 million) were pledged to banks to secure bank loans and banking 
facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023, there were outstanding counter indemnities relating to guarantees issued by the 
bankers of a subsidiary in favour of the Macau SAR Government in respect of properties held for sale amounted 
to HK$8.3 million (2022: HK$8.3 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Group 
under any of the guarantees. The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of any of the above 
guarantees as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and they were issued many years ago and their 
transaction price was Nil.
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Mr. HO Kian Guan, aged 78, is the Executive Chairman of the Company and director/chairman/president of 
various companies of the Group. He was appointed as a Director of the Company on 5 December 1979. Mr. Ho is 
also the executive chairman and director of Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (the “BMSB”)). Mr. Ho is also an independent Director and the chairman of the board of directors of 
Parkway Trust Management Limited, which is acting as manager of Parkway Life Real Estate Investment Trust 
which its units are trading on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). Mr. Ho retired as non-
executive director of Shangri-La Asia Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) on 28 May 
2021. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Business Administration and Commerce. He is also a director of KS Ocean Inc., 
Pad Inc., Lapford Limited, Goodland Limited and Kansas Holdings Limited (all being substantial shareholders of 
the Company). He is the father of Mr. HO Chung Tao, brother of Mr. HO Kian Hock and Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and 
uncle of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Kain, Mr. HO Chung Hui and Mr. HO Chung Kiat Sydney.

Mr. HO Kian Hock, aged 76, is the Deputy Executive Chairman of the Company and director/vice chairman of 
various companies of the Group. He was appointed as a Director of the Company on 19 December 1979. Mr. 
Ho is also the managing director of Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the BMSB). He is also a director of 
KS Ocean Inc., Pad Inc., Lapford Limited, Goodland Limited and Kansas Holdings Limited (all being substantial 
shareholders of the Company). He is the father of Mr. HO Chung Kain and Mr. HO Chung Hui, brother of Mr. HO 
Kian Guan and Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and uncle of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Tao and Mr. HO Chung 
Kiat Sydney.

Mr. TSE See Fan Paul, aged 69, is an Executive Director of the Company, a Remuneration Committee member, 
a Nomination Committee member and a Risk Management Committee member of the Board and director/
president/vice president/chairman/CEO/secretary of various companies of the Group. He was appointed as a 
Director of the Company on 5 December 1979. Mr. Tse is a director of KS Ocean Inc., Lapford Limited, Goodland 
Limited and Kansas Holdings Limited (all being substantial shareholders of the Company). He is a director of 
Macau Urban Renewal Limited. He is also a non-executive director of Banco Nacional Ultramarino, one of the 
two note-issuing banks of the Macau SAR, a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee 
of Yunnan Province, China for the 10th & 11th sessions.

Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, aged 54, is an Executive Director of the Company and director of various companies 
of the Group. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 1 July 2006. Mr. Chan retired as director of 
Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the BMSB) on 26 May 2023. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration and a Master of Science degree from the National University of Singapore. He is also a director 
of KS Ocean Inc., Lapford Limited and Kansas Holdings Limited (all being substantial shareholders of the 
Company). He is a nephew of Mr. HO Kian Guan, Mr. HO Kian Hock and Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and cousin of Mr. 
HO Chung Tao, Mr. HO Chung Kain, Mr. HO Chung Hui and Mr. HO Chung Kiat Sydney.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Chung Hui, aged 47, is an Executive Director of the Company and director/chairman of various 
Companies of the Group. He was appointed as a Director of the Company on 15 October 2008. He is also an 
alternate director of Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the BMSB). Mr. Ho joined the Group in August 2003 
as a director of a subsidiary for the Group’s hotel related investments in China and Vietnam. Before joining the 
Group, Mr. Ho worked for a major US consulting firm on various practices of strategy, finance and business 
process reengineering and human capital in Singapore. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from 
the London School of Economics. He is the son of Mr. HO Kian Hock, brother of Mr. HO Chung Kain, nephew of 
Mr. HO Kian Guan and Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and cousin of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Tao and Mr. 
HO Chung Kiat Sydney.

Mr. HO Kian Cheong, aged 74, is a Non-executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as a Director of 
the Company on 5 December 1979 and was re-designated as Non-executive Director on 17 April 2003. He is also 
a non-executive director of Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the BMSB). He is the father of Mr. HO Chung 
Kiat Sydney, brother of Mr. HO Kian Guan and Mr. HO Kian Hock and uncle of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan, Mr. HO 
Chung Tao, Mr. HO Chung Kain and Mr. HO Chung Hui.

Mr. KWOK Chi Shun Arthur, aged 78, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 3 January 
1995 and director of various companies of the Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, 
an Audit and Compliance Committee member and a Remuneration Committee member of the Board. He is a 
professional architect with extensive architectural, town planning and interior design experience and has wide 
business interests in property development, merchandise retailing and wholesale.

Ms. WANG Poey Foon Angela, aged 66, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 28 
September 2004. She is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, an Audit and Compliance Committee 
member, a Nomination Committee member and a Risk Management Committee member of the Board. Ms. 
Wang holds an LLB (Hons) degree from the National University of Singapore, and is an Advocate and Solicitor 
(Singapore), Solicitor (Hong Kong and United Kingdom). She has practised with major law firms in Singapore, 
Australia and Hong Kong and is currently a senior partner of a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong.

Mr. YU Hon To David, aged 76, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. He was appointed 
as a Director of the Company on 1 April 2013. He is also the chairman of Audit and Compliance Committee, 
a Remuneration Committee member, a Nomination Committee member and a Risk Management Committee 
member of the Board. He is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and a fellow member of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Yu has 
extensive experience in the f ields of audit ing, corporate f inance ( including IPO advisory, mergers and 
acquisitions and financial restructuring), financial investigation and corporate management and is currently an 
independent non-executive directors (“INED”) of China Resources Gas Group Limited, One Media Group Limited, 
Playmates Toys Limited and MS Group Holdings Limited, all listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“HKEx”). Mr. Yu is also a non-executive director of Haier Smart Home Co., Ltd. which is listed on Shanghai 
Stock Exchange and HKEx. In the past three years, Mr Yu was an INED of Playmates Holdings Limited, Media 
Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset Management Limited and China Renewable Energy Investment 
Limited, all currently listed or previously listed on HKEx.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Stephen TAN, aged 70, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as a 
Director of the Company on 6 June 2019. He is also the chairman of Risk Management Committee, an Audit and 
Compliance Committee member, a Remuneration Committee member and a Nomination Committee member of 
the Board. Mr. Tan is currently an executive director of Asia Financial Holdings Limited, an independent non-
executive director of Pioneer Global Group Limited and China Motor Bus Company, Limited (all listed on HKEX). 
He also sits on the boards of Bank Consortium Trust Company Limited, Hong Kong Life Insurance Limited and 
AFH Charitable Foundation Limited. Mr. Tan serves as a Standing Committee Member of The Chinese General 
Chamber of Commerce, the Incumbent Honorary President of Chiu Yang Residents Association of Hong Kong 
Limited, Honorary President of the Federation of Hong Kong Shantou Community Organisations, the Supervisor 
of Chiu Yang Por Yen Primary School and the Manager of Chiu Yang Primary School of Hong Kong. Mr. Tan is 
a member of the Board of Governor of Hong Kong Sinfonietta Limited, a voting member of Tung Wah Group of 
Hospitals Advisory Board, a trustee of Outward Bound Trust of Hong Kong, a charter member of The Rotary 
Club of The Peak and a founding member of Opera Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Tan was educated in the U.S.A. and 
holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Rutgers University, and a master’s degree in Business 
Administration from St. John’s University.

Mr. HO Chung Kain, aged 49, is an Alternate Director to Mr. HO Chung Hui and director of various Companies 
of the Group. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 15 October 2008. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 
2001 as a director of a subsidiary. He is also an alternate director of Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on the 
BMSB). He has experience in property marketing and development activities with major Japanese and Singapore 
real estate companies based in Singapore, and is responsible for property development, property management, 
construction and hotel related activities in Malaysia and Singapore. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration degree from Murdoch University in Perth, Australia. He is the son of Mr. HO Kian Hock, brother 
of Mr. HO Chung Hui, nephew of Mr. HO Kian Guan and Mr. HO Kian Cheong, and cousin of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming 
Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Tao and Mr. HO Chung Kiat Sydney.

Mr. HO Chung Kiat Sydney, aged 40, was appointed as Alternate Director to Mr. HO Kian Cheong with effect 
from 1 December 2018. He is presently an executive director of Hub Synergy (S) Pte Ltd, Leefon Corporation Pte 
Ltd and i.Contemporary Living Pte Ltd. Mr. Ho is responsible for the marketing and operations of a commercial 
building, supervision of the re-development of a 26-storey commercial building as well as its day-to-day 
operations, and marketing and leasing of warehouse lots in an industrial building. Previously, Mr. Ho was also 
involved in the development of a 49-unit, 30-storey residential project. Mr. Ho is also an Alternate Director to Mr. 
HO Kian Cheong in Keck Seng (Malaysia) Berhad (listed on BMSB). Mr. Ho holds a Master degree in Electrical 
and Electronic Engineering from the Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, London. He is the 
son of Mr. HO Kian Cheong, nephew of Mr. HO Kian Guan and Mr. HO Kian Hock, and cousin of Mr. CHAN Lui 
Ming Ivan, Mr. HO Chung Tao, Mr. HO Chung Hui and Mr. HO Chung Kain.

Business of the the Group are under direct responsibilities of the executive directors who are regarded as 
members of the Group's senior management.
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CORPORATE CULTURE
Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) prides 
itself on its core values of integrity, accountability, and adaptability. The Board and senior management strives 
to lead by example to instill these values into our corporate culture through best practices such as enforcing 
financial discipline, legal and regulatory compliance, as well as teamwork, open communication, ESG, staff well-
being, and contribution to the communities in way of charitable donations, all while not forgetting the underlying 
mission of making profit for shareholders and stakeholders alike. Considering the corporate culture in a range of 
contexts, the Board is of the view that the culture and the purpose, value and strategy of the Group are aligned.

The mission of the Group is “To maximize and optimize profit while creating a better world and enhancing the 
communities that we are in”. To achieve this, the Group diversifies its operations all around the world with high 
degree of localization. The Chairman’s Statement in this annual report includes discussions and analyses of 
the Group’s performance, the basis on which the Group generates and preserves value in the longer term and 
delivers the Group’s objectives. The Group is increasingly focusing on sustainability; employee’s health and 
well-being; inclusion and diversity. Further information on the sustainability initiatives of the Group and its key 
relationships with stakeholders can also be found in the standalone ESG Report of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has committed to achieving high corporate governance 
standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential in providing a framework 
for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the 
year, the Company has complied with the principles set out in the CG Code, save and except for deviations as 
explained below:

(1) Code Provision C.2.1, as the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are not 
separated.

(2) Code Provision F.2.2, as the chairman of the Nomination Committee didn’t attend the annual general 
meeting held on 31 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”).

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separated and should 
not be performed by the same individual. The Company has not appointed a chief executive officer, since day-
to-day operations of the Group were undertaken by the management teams in the respective geographical 
locations under the supervision of the Executive Directors. In respect of the management of the Board, the role 
was undertaken by Mr. HO Kian Guan, the Executive Chairman of the Company. The Board is of the view that this 
structure has served the Company well in past years and does not impair the balance of responsibility between 
the Board and the management of the business.

Pursuant to Code Provision F.2.2, the chairman of the board should invite the chairmen of the board’s 
committees to attend the annual general meeting. Mr. KWOK Chi Shun Arthur, the Independent Non-executive 
Director and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company, was unable to attend the 2023 AGM 
due to other work commitment. All other members of the Nomination Committee attended and were available to 
answer questions at the 2023 AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied 
with the Model Code throughout the year 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:
HO Kim Swee @ HO Kian Guan – Executive Chairman
HO Cheng Chong @ HO Kian Hock – Deputy Executive Chairman
TSE See Fan Paul
CHAN Lui Ming Ivan
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn (retired with effect from 30 April 2023)
HO Chung Tao (resigned with effect from 31 March 2023)
HO Chung Hui
HO Chung Kain @ HE Chongjing (Alternate to HO Chung Hui)

Non-executive Director:
HO Eng Chong @ HO Kian Cheong
HO Chung Kiat Sydney @ HE Chongjie Sydney (Alternate to HO Kian Cheong)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur
WANG Poey Foon Angela
YU Hon To David
Stephen TAN

The Board currently comprises 10 members, consisting of 5 Executive Directors (having 1 Alternate Director), 
1 Non-executive Director (having 1 Alternate Director) and 4 Independent Non-executive Directors. The 
biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 25 to 
27 of this annual report.

There is no relationship between members of the Board other than that Mr. HO Kian Guan is the father of Mr. HO 
Chung Tao, Mr. HO Kian Hock is the father of Messrs HO Chung Kain and HO Chung Hui, Mr. HO Kian Cheong 
is the father of Mr. HO Chung Kiat Sydney while Messrs HO Kian Guan, HO Kian Hock and HO Kian Cheong are 
brothers who are also uncles of Mr. CHAN Lui Ming Ivan.

Independent Non-executive Directors
During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment 
of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom 
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Independent Non-executive Directors also serve the important functions of ensuring and monitoring the 
basis for an effective corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each Independent Non-
executive Director to be independent in character and judgment and that they all meet the specific independence 
criteria as required under the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive 
Director an annual confirmation of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and 
the Company still considers such Directors to be independent. The Independent Non-executive Directors are 
explicitly identified in all corporate communications.



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

30 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management
The principal function of the Board is on setting the overall strategic direction and investment focus of the Group. 
The Board also monitors the financial performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business activities. 
Day-to-day management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management and the responsibilities and 
powers so delegated are periodically reviewed to ensure that they remain appropriate.

With wide respective professional experience in financial, architectural, legal and accounting fields, the 
Independent Non-executive Directors bring and contribute to the Board a balance of skil ls, independent 
judgment and insight into the setting of strategic direction, investment focus, performance evaluation, risk 
management of the Group through attendance at meetings of the Board, Audit and Compliance Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Risk Management Committee and general discussions with 
the Executive Directors.

All Directors are updated on governance and regulatory matters. All Directors have full and timely access to 
all the information of the Company as well as the services and advice from the company secretary and senior 
management. Directors can obtain independent advice at the expense of the Company for the furtherance of 
their duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer liability insurance cover in respect 
of legal actions against its Directors.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews 
the contribution required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company.

The Board meets to review the overall strategic direction of the Group, to monitor the operations and to deal 
with any corporate and policy matters in respect of which its attention is required. The Executive Directors are 
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meeting. Notices of at least 14 days have 
been given to all Directors for all Board meetings. Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if 
necessary. Agenda and board papers in respect of Board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors at least 3 
business days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for comment 
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by duly appointed secretaries of 
the respective meetings and all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and are provided 
with adequate information in a timely manner, enabling the Board to make informed decisions on matters under 
discussion.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities 
and development of the Company.

Since 2004, new Directors have been given, on appointment, an orientation package, including information on 
the Group’s company structure, details of major investments, the Company’s Articles of Association, and other 
relevant information to familiarise the new Directors with the corporate affairs and operations of the Group. 
They will receive, from time to time, formal, comprehensive and tailored induction to ensure full awareness of 
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally- 
facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on relevant topics will be issued to 
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s 
expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

During the year, the training records of the Directors of the Company are as follows:

Directors

Attending seminar 
and/or conferences 

and/or forums

Reading journals, 
updates, articles 

and/or materials, etc

Executive Directors
HO Kian Guan ✓ ✓

HO Kian Hock ✓ ✓

TSE See Fan Paul ✓ ✓

CHAN Lui Ming Ivan ✓

HO Chung Hui ✓ ✓

HO Chung Kain (Alternate to HO Chung Hui) ✓ ✓

Non-executive Director
HO Kian Cheong ✓ ✓

HO Chung Kiat Sydney (Alternate to HO Kian Cheong) ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur ✓

WANG Poey Foon Angela ✓ ✓

YU Hon To David ✓ ✓

Stephen TAN ✓ ✓

Under Code Provision C.1.4, all directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills, and have regular updates on the changes of Listing Rules and industry 
sectors as continuous professional development. In addition, relevant reading materials including directors’ 
manual, legal and regulatory update and seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for their 
reference and studying.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is to support the Board by ensuring that there is good information flow and the board 
policies and procedures are strictly followed. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board on 
governance matters and also facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year, the Company Secretary took no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training in 
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established 4 committees, namely, Audit and Compliance Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s 
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms 
of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website 
and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are Independent Non-executive Directors and the list of 
the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out below.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee of the Company was established in 1999. Its current members are:

YU Hon To David (Chairman of the committee)
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur
WANG Poey Foon Angela
Stephen TAN

All the members are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board considers that each of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee members has broad commercial experience and that there is an appropriate balance 
of experiences and skills covering legal, business, accounting and financial management disciplines on the 
Committee. The composition and the membership of the Audit and Compliance Committee comply with the 
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference covering the authority and 
duties of the Audit and Compliance Committee conform to the provisions of the CG Code.

The Audit and Compliance Committee deliberates and meets to review the reporting of financial and other 
relevant information to shareholders, the scheme of internal controls, the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function and the effectiveness and objectivity of the audit process. The Audit and Compliance Committee 
provides one of the important links between the Company and the Company’s external auditors in matters 
within the Committee’s terms of reference, and keep in view the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors. The Audit and Compliance Committee also review the Company ’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s Environmental, Social and 
Governance activities and advise the Board on related matters.

The Audit and Compliance Committee has reviewed with the management and the external auditors the 
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, discussed financial reporting matters including a 
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and review the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function.

During the year, three Audit and Compliance Committee meetings were held. The Audit and Compliance 
Committee met the Company’s external auditors annually in the absence of management to discuss matters 
relating to any issue arising from audit and any other matters the external auditors may wish to raise. The Audit 
and Compliance Committee has also met regularly and from time to time with the representative of the internal 
audit team of the Company, which conducted independent reviews of the Group’s risk management, internal 
control framework and systems.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board and the Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out in the 
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board with the assistance of the Audit and Compliance Committee and the management 
had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the CG Code and disclosure in this 
Corporate Governance Report.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005. Its current members are:

WANG Poey Foon Angela (Chairlady of the committee)
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur
YU Hon To David
Stephen TAN
TSE See Fan Paul

Membership of the Remuneration Committee is appointed by the Board. The majority of the members are 
Independent Non-executive Directors. The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and 
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, Non-executive 
Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee review and make recommendations to the 
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management. The 
Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or any of his/her associate is involved in deciding his/her own 
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee conform to the provisions of the CG Code.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings, during which the committee reviewed and 
discussed matters related to the remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the remuneration 
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management and other related matters.

Details of the remuneration of each Director and senior management for the year ended 31 December 2023 are 
set out in note 7 to the Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. Its current members are:

KWOK Chi Shun Arthur (Chairman of the committee)
WANG Poey Foon Angela
YU Hon To David
Stephen TAN
TSE See Fan Paul
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition, developing and 
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations 
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of 
Independent Non-executive Directors. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee conform to the 
provisions of the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out 
in the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The 
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, 
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. It reviewed the Nomination Policy and the Board 
Diversity Policy and considered them remain effective and appropriate for the Company. It also reviewed the 
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board Diversity Policy, 
and the Nomination Policy and considered that the Board consists of a diverse mix of members and has 
provided a good balance of skills and experience appropriate to the corporate strategy and goal of the Group. 
The Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of all the Independent Non-executive Directors 
and considered all of them to be independent having regard to their annual independence confirmation and the 
assessment of their independence with reference to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules. It made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring Directors at 2023 annual general 
meeting of the Company.

Nomination Policy
The Company has established a Nomination Policy which includes the following principles:

1. The Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors shall be responsible for identifying, receiving, 
reviewing and proposing individuals to be put forward to the Board of Directors for consideration in relation 
to the appointment of additional Directors to the Company.

2. The Nomination Committee shall establish the procedure for identifying, receiving and reviewing the 
qualification of candidates mentioned in (1) above.

3. The Nomination Committee shall consider, inter alia, the technical competencies, core skil l levels, 
professional and other experiences, level of integrity, and other relevant factors in light of the strategic and 
operational issues faced by the Company in its review of candidates.

4. The Nomination Committee shall, inter alia, consider the diversity of backgrounds, perspectives, genders 
and qualifications of candidates in order to ensure optimal corporate governance.

5. The Nomination Committee shall from time to time review the structure and size of the Board of Directors 
and make recommendations for changes as and when appropriate or necessary.

6. The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board of Directors to ensure that the 
Company complies with relevant clauses in the Listing Rules with respect to Independent Non-executive 
Directors.
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Board Diversity
The Company adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board 
members in 2013. The Company is committed to equality of opportunity and does not discriminate on the 
grounds of race, gender, age, disability, nationality, or any other factors. It also recognizes and embraces the 
benefits of diversity in Board members, and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element 
in maintain the Company’s competitive advantage and believes that diversity of Board members can be achieved 
through consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience and other 
qualities. The Company takes into account these factors based on its own specific needs from time to time as 
well as the availability of suitable candidates in the market.

The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and reviews the same as 
appropriate. The Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members in terms of age, gender and tenure of office. 
Currently, the Board has a female Director out of 10 Directors and the Directors come from a variety of different 
backgrounds and have a diverse range of business, financial services and professional experience. The Company 
is committed to improving the diversity of the Board based on its needs and as and when suitable candidates are 
identified.

The Company has also taken, and continues to take steps to promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. The 
Group provides equal opportunity to all employees and does not discriminate on the grounds of gender, race, 
age, nationality, religion, sexual orientation, disability, and any other aspects of diversity. In 2023, our total 
workforce comprised 43% female and 57% male. Further details of the Group’s inclusive policy, please refer to 
“Our Workforce Diversity” section of ESG Report 2023.

Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee was established in 2020. Its current members are:

Stephen TAN (Chairman of the committee)
WANG Poey Foon Angela
YU Hon To David
TSE See Fan Paul

Majority of the members are Independent Non-executive Directors. The principal duties of the Risk Management 
Committee are to oversee the implementation and operation of the risk management system of the Group and to 
make recommendations on any matters related thereto where action or improvement is needed; and to identify, 
evaluate, mitigate and manage material risks faced by the Group; and to review the adequacy of the Group’s 
policies and procedures regarding risk management system.

During the year, the Risk Management Committee held two meetings during which the committee reviewed and 
discussed the risk management system of the Group and to make recommendation to the Board; and reviewed 
the Company’s risk profile and the Report of Risk Management Committee.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings 
of the Company held during the year is set out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings 

Name of Director Board
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee

Risk 
Management 

Committee

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Extraordinary 
General 
Meeting

Executive Directors
HO Kian Guan 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1
HO Kian Hock 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1
TSE See Fan Paul 5/5 2/2 2/2 3/3* 2/2 1/1 1/1
CHAN Lui Ming Ivan 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn 1/1 – – – – – –
HO Chung Tao 1/1 1/1 1/1* 1/1 1/1 – –
HO Chung Hui 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1
HO Chung Kain (Alternate to HO Chung Hui) 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1

Non-executive Director
HO Kian Cheong 5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1
HO Chung Kiat Sydney  

(Alternate to HO Kian Cheong)
5/5 – – – – 1/1 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
KWOK Chi Shun Arthur 4/5 2/2 2/2 3/3 – 0/1 1/1
WANG Poey Foon Angela 5/5 2/2 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
YU Hon To David 5/5 2/2 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Stephen TAN 5/5 2/2 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1

* Director is not the member of the Committee, only acts as the attendee of the Committee meetings.

# Not include meetings attended by Alternate.

^ Directors participated the Annual General Meeting by video conference.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with the Independent Non-executive 
Directors without the presence of Executive Directors during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
A. Risk Management

Oversight of Risk Management & Framework
B

ot
to

m
-u

p 
A

pp
ro

ac
h Top-dow

n A
pproach

Board of
Directors

Risk
Management
Committee

Accountability
& Ownership

Business Unit
Owners

Policies &
Procedures

Standardisation
& Monitoring

Internal
Audit

External
Audit

Independent
Assurance

Audit &
Compliance
Committee

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks and 
the effectiveness of internal controls in the Group’s business. The Audit and Compliance Committee and 
the Risk Management Committee of the Group assists the Board in providing oversight of risk management 
and internal control systems that reflects both the established risk appetite and the business objectives 
and reports to the Board annually their observations on any matters under their purview. The framework is 
not designed to eliminate risk but define and manage the type of risk and level of exposure we are prepared 
to take in pursuit of our strategic objectives to ensure decisions taken align with the Group’s risk appetite.
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The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk appetite of the Group and has overall responsibility for the 
Group’s risk management framework. The Board also reviews the recommendations made to it by the Audit 
and Compliance Committee and Risk Management Committee.

The Group’s Risk Management framework combines a bottom-up operational with a top-down strategic 
view process. Each business unit is responsible for identifying its own risks that potentially impact the 
business of the Group and various aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory 
compliance and information security. They also need to ensure risk management process and mitigation 
plan follow established practices and guidelines. Each business unit is also responsible to formulate or 
execute policies and procedures and also ensure the standardisation and consistency among them.

The Board has established a Risk Management Committee to assist in overseeing the Group’s risk 
management process, with the assistance of the Group Financial Controller. The main responsibility of 
the Risk Management Committee is to ensure various risks are properly managed and controlled to an 
acceptable level for the Group in the course of conducting business.

The Audit and Compliance Committee monitors the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems through the Internal Audit Department, who performs independent audits across the all business 
units across the Group. The Internal Audit Department’s objective is to evaluate that such systems are 
functioning properly; This is an ongoing process where all material controls of the Group are evaluated for 
effectiveness. Internal Audit Reports are furnished to the Audit and Compliance Committee, highlighting 
material deviations (if any); and that all deviations are followed through by Management for rectification. A 
confidential whistle-blowing mechanism has been established to ensure all raised concerns are promptly 
responded and followed up by Internal Audit Department and Audit and Compliance Committee.

The Group has adopted an internal code on the protection of company’s information, including the storage 
and the use of data is also subject to data privacy laws. The Group’s Code of Corporate Conduct Policy 
prohibits its Directors and officers from dealing in listed securities of the Company while in possession of 
unpublished, material and price-sensitive information in relation to such securities and ensures that any 
potential inside information is promptly identified and reported to the senior management who will make 
timely decisions on dissemination of inside information as soon as practicable in according with applicable 
laws and regulations. The Company issues periodic reminders to its Directors, relevant officers and 
employees on the restrictions in dealing in listed securities of the Company as set out above as part of the 
Group’s risk management process.

Each member of our Executive Team is responsible for identifying and assessing key risks within their own 
business unit. They also report to Risk Management Committee where they collectively assess and monitor 
specific risks and agree mitigation actions.
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Group’s Principal Risks
The following table provides what we consider to be the Group’s principle risks, possible associated 
impacts and mitigation measures that are in place or under development.

Principal Risks Possible impacts Mitigation

1. Global systematic Risk •	 Tensions	 between	 the	 US	 and	
China, the Russo-Ukrainian War, 
middle east military conflict and 
the upcoming US presidential 
e l e c t i o n  h a v e  a  s i g n i f i c a n t 
impact on the global social and 
economic landscape, including 
t r a v e l  p a t t e r n s ,  t h e  h o t e l 
industry's demand, operat ing 
costs, and investment decisions.

•	 Implement	 cost	 saving	measures	
and right sizing of workforce

•	 Staying	 updated	 on	 regulations,	
market trends and tenants/guests 
preferences;

•	 Provide	 flexible	 leasing/booking	
o p t i o n s  t o  m a i n t a i n  h i g h 
occupancy.

2. Investment and Asset 
Management

•	 The	 lack	of	certainty	brought	by	
the protracted global pandemic 
have elevated financial market 
uncertainties and exposed our 
Investments to financial risks in 
the areas of earnings, liquidity, 
cashflow and capital values.

•	 Chang i ng 	 ma r ke t 	 s en t imen t	
c a u s e d  b y  u n c e r t a i n t i e s  i n 
m a c r o - e c o n o m i c ,  p o l i t i c a l 
outlook, changes in government 
policies, and possible inflation, 
wi l l  a lso impact our business 
earnings and value of properties 
owned.

•	 Closely	monitor	 the	 exposure	 to	
the risk and uncertainties and take 
necessary measures to safeguard 
t h e  i n t e r e s t s  o f  e m p l o y e e s 
a n d  b u s i n e s s  o p e r a t i o n s  i n 
o rde r  to  m in im ise  the  impac t 
to the f inancial and operational 
performances to the Group.

•	 Globa l 	 and	 reg iona l 	 economic	
and pol i t ical factors should be 
also take into consideration and 
promptly ref lect in our Group’s 
development plan, business plan 
a n d  b u d g e t s  o f  o u r  i n v e s t e d 
properties.

•	 Review	 investments	 that	 creates	
long-term value on a sustainable 
basis and also adopt a disciplined 
a p p r o a c h  t o w a r d s  p o s s i b l e 
acquisitions.

•	 Prudently	manage	 resources	 and	
maintain sound financial position
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Principal Risks Possible impacts Mitigation

3. Health & Safety •	 T h e 	 h e a l t h 	 a n d 	 s a f e t y 	 a n d	
security of guests, visitors and 
emp loyees i s  a  fundamenta l 
expectat ion but with dif fer ing 
r e g u l a t o r y  r e q u i r e m e n t s 
across jurisdictions. Failure to 
imp lemen t  t hese  hea l t h  and 
safety measures could  resu l t 
in serious injury or loss of life, 
which could lead to regulatory 
investigations and expose the 
Group to  s ign i f i can t  c l a ims , 
sanctions or fines, both civil and 
criminal, as well as reputational 
damage.

•	 While	 the	 Hotel	Managers	 have	
the i r  own es tab l i shed Hea l th , 
Safety and ESG systems in place, 
the Group reviews their policies, 
p rocedu res ,  t es t i ng ,  se l f  and 
third- party audits, training and 
reports. 

•	 As	 the	well-being	 of	 the	 guests,	
employees and other stakeholders 
is one of the top prior it ies, the 
Group supports and implemented 
robust precautionary measures, 
including an enhanced cleaning 
and sanit isation programme, to 
help ensure all offices and hotels 
remain safe places to visit.

4. Cybersecurity and data 
security

•	 Al though	 Hotel	 Managers	 are	
responsible in ensuring IT Risks 
are mitigated, any lapses in non- 
compliances e.g. Payment Card 
Industry Standards (“PCI-DSS”) 
will have serious consequences 
i . e .  l i t i g a t i o n  a n d  f i n a n c i a l 
losses, which are borne by the 
Group.

•	 The	occurrence	of	a	cybersecurity	
event or loss of data could disrupt 
business and impedes the ability 
of  the Hote ls  to  take or fu l f i l 
bookings.

•	 Employees	working	 from	home	
during coronavirus lockdowns 
has given rise to an increased 
security threat of cyberattacks 
against those employees.

•	 Regu l a r 	 r e v i ew 	 o f 	 Ho t e l s ’ 	 I T	
s e c u r i t y  p r o c e s s e s  a n d  r i s k 
assessments on an ongoing basis 
and constantly enhanced security 
measures

•	 Conduct	 per iodic	 secur i ty	 and	
p e n e t r a t i o n  t e s t i n g  a n d  a n y 
recommendations or enhancements 
are implemented where necessary.

•	 Regu la r 	 rev iew	 and	 update	 o f	
IT in f rast ructure, systems and 
recovery processes.

•	 P r o v i d e 	 r e gu l a r 	 t r a i n i n g s 	 o n	
information security awareness
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Principal Risks Possible impacts Mitigation

5. Hotel Operation •	 Majority	 of	 our	 invested	 hotels	
are managed by various Hotel 
M a n a g e r s  a n d  t h e  r i s k  o f 
mismanagement by the Hote l 
M a n a g e r s  c a n n o t  b e  f u l l y 
mitigated.

•	 T h e 	 G r o up 	 h a s 	 p r o f e s s i o n a l	
teams to support and monitor the 
performance of our hotels and 
our teams per iodical ly analyse 
and review relevant operating and 
f inancial informat ion to ensure 
that they continue to satisfy the 
Group’s investment s t rateg ies 
and control principles.

•	 Group	 In te rna l 	 Aud i t ’ s 	 rev iew	
covers  ma jo r  opera t iona l  and 
financial systems of our invested 
hotels on a continuing basis and 
continues to implement measures 
to address material weakness.

6. Human Resources •	 A 	 s u c c e s s i o n 	 p l a n 	 f o r 	 t h e	
Company’s senior management 
i s  n e c e s s a r y  i n  o r d e r  t o  b e 
prepared for the successor in the 
event that such senior executive 
will retire or not in the position 
to perform the duty, so that the 
Group’s business could continue 
to operate as usual.

•	 The	 Group	 aims	 to	 improve	 i ts	
senior manager cadre through 
i d e n t i f y i n g  a n d  d e v e l o p i n g 
i n d i v i d u a l s  t o  a c h i e v e  t h e i r 
fu l l  potent ia l  wi th in the Group 
and to ensure that appropriate 
success ion p lans are in p lace 
to meet the future needs of the 
business.

7. Environmental and Social 
Responsibility Risk

•	 P o t e n t i a l 	 c h a l l e n g e s 	 a n d	
negative impacts that properties 
f a c e  r e g a r d i n g  e n v i r o n m e n t 
a n d  t h e  w e l l - b e i n g  o f  t h e 
c o m m u n i t i e s  i n  w h i c h  t h e y 
operate.

•	 In tegrat ing	 env i ronmenta l 	 and	
socia l responsibi l i ty pr inciples 
into management practices.

•	 Communicate	 your	 environmental	
and social efforts transparently to 
stakeholders.

B. Internal Audit and Internal Controls
Whilst the responsibility of maintaining a good system of internal controls rests with the Management, the 
Group Internal Audit assess the robustness of the system through a structured internal audit programme.

Reporting to the Audit and Compliance Committee, the scope of the Group Internal Audit’s review covers 
major operational and financial systems on a continuing basis and targets to cover all major operations 
within every division on a rotational basis. The scope of its review and its audit programme is approved 
by the Audit and Compliance Committee before the start of each financial year. Internal Audit reports are 
submitted directly to the Audit and Compliance Committee.
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C. Conclusion
The Audit and Compliance Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems 
covering all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance, information technology and risk 
management functions during the year and the resources allocated to the internal control operations. This 
is reported to the Board following each Audit and Compliance Committee meeting.

The Board reviewed, considered and is satisfied that the Group’s internal control systems and risk 
management functions are effective, adequate and in compliance with the risk management and internal 
control code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, for the year ended 31 December 2023. The 
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, 
experiences and relevant resources.

On the basis of the review, the Board, the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Risk Management 
Committee are satisfied as to the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management and 
concluded that:

a. the Group during the year has complied with the Code of Governance on internal control

b. the Group has a framework of prudent and effective controls to identify, evaluate and manage the 
risks

c. the Group has internal control and accounting systems which are reasonably efficient and adequate

d. the Group has ongoing monitoring processes which identified, evaluated and managed significant 
risks that may influence its major business operations, and

e. No significant control failings or weaknesses is identified during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have selected suitable 
accounting policies and applied them consistently, approved adoption of all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards, made judgments and estimates which are fair and reasonable, and have prepared the 
financial statements on the going concern basis.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 51.

Where appropriate, a statement will be submitted by the Audit and Compliance Committee explaining its 
recommendation regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors and the 
reasons why the Board has taken a different view from that of the Audit and Compliance Committee.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below.

2023
HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit services 2,787
– Non-audit services (including tax advisory and other services) 2,618  

5,405  

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has approved and adopted a dividend policy to provide shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”) with regular dividends (the “Dividend Policy”). Under the Company Law and our Articles of 
Association, all of our Shareholders have equal rights to dividends and distributions.

In formulating this policy, the Company has taken into consideration the varying objectives of:

•	 Providing	part	of	the	return	to	Shareholders	in	the	form	of	dividend	income	from	the	Company;

•	 Maintaining	sufficient	free	cashflow	to	finance	ongoing	company	operations;

•	 Maintaining	sufficient	cash	 resources	 to	 finance	company	acquisitions	which	may	come	up	 from	 time	 to	
time;

•	 Maintaining	sufficient	cash	resources	to	finance	unforeseen	cash	requirements.

It has also taken into consideration the possibility of:

•	 Possible	fluctuation	in	earnings	from	one	financial	period	to	another;

•	 Unforeseen	global	financial	instability	giving	rise	to	systemic	risk	on	a	global	basis;

•	 Unforeseen	economic,	social	and	political	instability	in	the	Company’s	various	geographical	locations;

•	 Possible	 cost-escalations	 resulting	 from	 inflation,	 structural	 cost	 adjustments,	 legal	 changes,	 and	other	
unforeseen incidents;

•	 Possible	 reduction	 in	 revenue	due	 to	 changing	market	 conditions,	 consumption	 and	 spending	patterns,	
legal changes, and other unforeseen factors.



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

44 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company intends to provide Shareholders with semi-annual dividends. Further, 
the intention is that such dividends should be in line with general movements in the Company’s consolidated net 
income attributable to the Shareholders and general cashflow availability, subject to the Company’s capacity 
to pay from accumulated and future earnings, anticipated liquidity position and future commitments at the time 
of declaration of dividend. The Dividend Policy will allow the Company to pay scrip dividends. The Dividend 
Policy will also allow the Company to declare special dividends from time to time in addition to the semi-annual 
dividends.

It is the view of the Board that Shareholders participate in the Company’s profits, while recognising that it is 
important for the Company to maintain adequate cash reserves for covering current operations and funding 
future growth. The Company’s capacity to declare dividends will depend upon, inter alia, the Company’s current 
and future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements. It will also depend on dividends received and 
receivable from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates. The payment of dividend is also subject to any 
restrictions under the Hong Kong law and the Company’s Articles of Association.

Pursuant to Article 144 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company in general meeting may declare 
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. It should 
be noted that the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the projected operations and financial 
resources of the Company and its subsidiaries. It should also be noted that the Dividend Policy shall be reviewed 
from time to time by the Directors and management. Hence, there is no assurance or commitment that dividends 
will be paid in any particular amount for any given financial period. Even if the Board decides to recommend and 
pay dividends, the form, and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital requirement and 
surplus, general financial condition, contractual obligations, prevailing economic condition, and other relevant 
factors.

Pursuant to Article 156 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any dividend unclaimed after a period of twelve 
years from the date of payment of such dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT
During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to Articles of Association. An up to 
date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock 
Exchange’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate 
issue at general meetings, including the election or re-election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward 
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the 
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening A General Meeting/Right To Call A General Meeting
Pursuant to the Sections 566 and 568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of 
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)/Article 71 of the Company’s Articles of Association, shareholder(s) 
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at general meetings 
can make a written request to convene a general meeting. Such request must state the general nature of the 
business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved 
and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in 
electronic form and must also be authenticated by the person or persons making it.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting
Pursuant to the Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total 
voting rights of all the shareholders or at least 50 shareholders can request the Company in writing to circulate 
to the shareholders a statement with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt with at 
that meeting or other business to be dealt with at that meeting. The request may be sent to the Company in hard 
copy form or in electronic form and must identify the statement to be circulated. It must be authenticated by the 
person or persons making it and be received by the Company at least 7 days before such meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries To The Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the 
Company at the Company’s address in Hong Kong or by email.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 2902, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
Email: enquiry@keckseng.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, 
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact 
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required 
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor 
relations and investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company 
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general 
meetings and other general meetings. The Chairman of the Board, all other members of the Board including Non-
executive Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors, and the Chairmen of all Board committees (or their 
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general meetings to meet shareholders and answer their 
enquiries.

The Shareholders Communication Policy, which is available on the Group’s website, sets out the framework in 
place to promote two-way communication with shareholders so as to enable them to engage actively with the 
Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed matter. In August 2022, the Shareholders 
Communication Policy was updated to elaborate on the mult iple avenues available for shareholders to 
communicate with the Company. The Company has reviewed its prevailing Shareholders’ Communication Policy 
during the year, and believes the Shareholders’ Communication Policy is still appropriate and effective.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to and including the date 
of this Annual Report as required by the Listing Rules.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF 
KECK SENG INVESTMENTS (HONG KONG) LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 52 to 126, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 
in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Valuation of investment properties
Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy at note 1(g).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties 
(primarily office and commercial premises) located 
in Macau which are stated at their fair values which 
totalled HK$893 million and accounted for 15% of the 
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.

The fair values of the investment propert ies as at 
31 December 2023 were assessed by the board of 
directors based on independent valuations prepared 
by an independent f i rm of professional surveyors 
with appropriate qualifications and experience in the 
location and category of property being valued. The 
net changes in fair value of investment properties 
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss represented 4% of the Group’s prof i t before 
taxation for the year ended 31 December 2023.

We identified the valuation of investment properties 
as a key audit matter because of its significance to 
the consolidated financial statements and because the 
valuation of investment properties can be inherently 
subjective and requires the exercise of signif icant 
judgement and estimation, in particular in determining 
the appropriate valuation methodology, capitalisation 
rates and market rents, which increases the risk of 
error or potential management bias.

Our audi t  procedures to assess the va luat ion of 
investment properties included the following:

•	 obtaining	 and	 inspecting	 the	 valuation	 reports	
p r e p a r e d  b y  t h e  i n d e p e n d e n t  p r o f e s s i o n a l 
surveyors engaged by the Group and on which 
the d i rectors ’ assessment of the va luat ion of 
investment properties was based;

•	 assessing	 the	 qualif ications	 of	 the	 independent	
professional surveyors and their experience in 
the properties being valued and considering their 
objectivity;

•	 d iscussing	 with	 the	 independent	 profess ional	
s u r v e y o r s  t h e i r  v a l u a t i o n  m e t h o d o l o g y  i n  a 
separate pr ivate sess ion and chal lenging the 
key estimates and assumptions adopted in the 
va luat ions, inc luding capi ta l isat ion rates and 
market rents, by comparing the assumptions made 
in prior years with the current year’s assumptions 
and cur rent  pub l ic ly  ava i lab le data ,  w i th the 
ass is tance of  our in terna l  proper ty va luat ion 
specialists, and considering whether there was any 
indication of management bias in the selection of 
the assumptions; and

•	 c ompa r i n g 	 t e n a n c y 	 i n f o rma t i o n , 	 i n c l u d i n g	
committed rents and occupancy rates, provided 
by the Group to the independent professional 
surveyors with underlying contracts and related 
documentation, on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Recoverability of the carrying value of hotel properties owned by the Group
Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy at notes 1(h)(i) and 1(j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group ho lds  a  number  o f  ho te l  p rope r t i es 
located in major c i t ies in Asia Paci f ic and North 
America. These hotel properties were stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment with 
carry ing amounts tota l l ing HK$1,356 mi l l ion and 
accounted for 23% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 
December 2023.

Reversal of impairment loss on a hotel property of 
HK$58,297,000 was recognised in the consolidated 
income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2023.

At the year end management assesses if there are any 
indicators of potential impairment of hotel properties 
or any indicators that an impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods for the hotel properties may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. Where indicators of 
potential impairment or reversal of impairment are 
identified, management assesses the recoverability 
of the carrying value of hotel properties based on 
the present value of est imated future cash f lows 
arising from the continued use of the related assets. 
The assessment of the recoverable amounts of hotel 
propert ies is inherent ly subject ive as i t  involves 
significant management judgement and estimation, 
particularly given the diverse locations of the hotel 
properties and the particular economic and political 
circumstances at each location which can affect, inter 
alia, occupancy rates, average room rate and future 
growth rates.

We ident i f ied assessing the recoverabi l i ty of the 
carrying value of hotel properties owned by the Group 
as a key audit matter because of its significance to 
the consolidated financial statements and because the 
determination of whether there is objective evidence 
o f  impa i rment  invo lves s ign i f i cant  management 
j u d g e m e n t  a n d  c o u l d  b e  s u b j e c t  t o  p o t e n t i a l 
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of 
the carrying value of hotel properties owned by the 
Group included the following:

•	 discussing	 triggering	 events	 and/or	 indicators	 of	
potential impairment or reversal of impairment 
loss of hotel propert ies with management and 
inspecting the operating results and cash f low 
forecasts of the respective hotels;

•	 where	 such	 t r igger ing	 events	 or	 indicators	 of	
potential impairment or reversal of impairment loss 
were determined to exist, performing the following 
procedures in respect of each individual hotel 
property:

– d i s c u s s i n g  w i t h  G r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d 
a s s e s s i n g  t h e  v a l u a t i o n  m e t h o d o l o g i e s 
adopted in the preparation of the impairment 
assessment with reference to the requirements 
of the prevailing accounting standards;

– challenging the key estimates and assumptions 
a d o p t e d  i n  t h e  i m p a i r m e n t  a s s e s s m e n t , 
including occupancy rates, average room rate 
and future growth rates and discount rate, by 
comparing these with market available data and 
the current year’s operating results with the 
assistance of our internal valuation specialists.

•	 pe r f o rm i ng 	 s en s i t i v i t y 	 a na l y s e s 	 b y 	 mak i ng	
adjustments to the key estimates and assumptions 
adopted in the impairment assessments to assess 
risk of possible management bias in the selection 
of these assumptions; and

•	 performing	 a	 retrospective	 review	by	 comparing	
the forecast operating results made in the prior 
year’s impairment assessments with the current 
year’s operating results to assess the historical 
accuracy of management’s forecasting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information 
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is material ly inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit and Compliance Committee in discharging their responsibilities for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	 the	 risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	 statements,	whether	
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	 relevant	to	the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	that	
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	 the	 appropriateness	of	 the	directors’	 use	of	 the	going	 concern	basis	 of	 accounting	 and,	
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	 suff icient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 f inancial	 information	 of	 the	 entit ies	 or	
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Compliance Committee, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Tsz Kei.

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3 1,738,354 1,429,488

Cost of sales (143,465) (132,740)    

1,594,889 1,296,748
Other revenue 4(a) 141,436 41,331
Other net gains 4(b) 9,755 17,052
Direct costs and operating expenses (733,452) (611,252)
Marketing and selling expenses (60,687) (30,190)
Depreciation 11(a) (141,334) (149,291)
Administrative and other operating expenses (448,037) (402,272)    

Operating profit 362,570 162,126

Net (decrease)/increase in fair value of investment properties 11(a) (12,500) 3,900
Reversal of impairment loss on a hotel property 11(b) 58,297 –    

408,367 166,026
Finance costs 5(a) (98,830) (50,274)
Share of net profits of associates 32,340 14,071    

Profit before taxation 5 341,877 129,823

Income tax 6(a) (28,021) (5,624)    

Profit for the year 313,856 124,199    

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 219,656 76,302
Non-controlling interests 94,200 47,897    

Profit for the year 313,856 124,199    

Earnings per share, basic and diluted (cents) 9 64.6 22.4    

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year are set out in note 
24(b).

The notes on pages 58 to 126 form part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 313,856 124,199 

Other comprehensive income for the year

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income  
– net movement in fair value reserve (non-recycling) (229) (91)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of:
– financial statements of overseas subsidiaries and associates (13,469) (37,445)   

Other comprehensive income for the year (13,698) (37,536) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 300,158 86,663   

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 208,797 42,767
Non-controlling interests 91,361 43,896   

Total comprehensive income for the year 300,158 86,663   

There is no tax effect relating to the above components of other comprehensive income.

The notes on pages 58 to 126 form part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investment properties 892,900 905,400
Property, plant and equipment 1,431,628 1,541,519
Land 777,558 808,509    

11 3,102,086 3,255,428
Interest in associates 13 98,196 85,891
Derivative financial assets 8,476 13,372
Other non-current financial assets 14 137,363 120,611
Deferred tax assets 23(b) 455,818 423,611    

3,801,939 3,898,913 

Current assets

Trading securities 15 10,561 12,154
Properties held for sale 16 278,873 278,873
Inventories 4,531 4,879
Trade and other receivables 17 96,438 75,674
Deposits and cash 18(a) 1,511,698 1,341,269
Taxation recoverable 23(a) 2,600 24,134    

1,904,701 1,736,983
Assets classified as held for sale 25 89,497 –    

1,994,198 1,736,983 

Current liabilities

Bank loans 19(a) 319,391 1,359,323
Trade and other payables 20 453,614 413,947
Loan from an associate 13 464 464
Loans from non-controlling shareholders 22 4,155 41,227
Taxation payable 23(a) 21,111 24,239    

798,735 1,839,200 

Net current assets/(liabilities) 1,195,463 (102,217) 

Total assets less current liabilities 4,997,402 3,796,696 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 19(a) 1,056,083 76,481
Deferred revenue 21 2,783 3,172
Loans from non-controlling shareholders 22 108,824 73,283
Deferred tax liabilities 23(b) 89,914 91,114    

1,257,604 244,050 

NET ASSETS 3,739,798 3,552,646    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24

Share capital 498,305 498,305
Reserves 2,620,075 2,438,494    

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 3,118,380 2,936,799

Non-controlling interests 621,418 615,847    

TOTAL EQUITY 3,739,798 3,552,646    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2024.

Ho Kian Guan Tse See Fan Paul
Executive Chairman Executive Director

The notes on pages 58 to 126 form part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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The notes on pages 58 to 126 form part of these financial statements.

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Retained 
profits Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2023 498,305 19,511 (21,453) 2,980 2,437,456 2,936,799 615,847 3,552,646 

Changes in equity for 2023:

Profit for the year – – – – 219,656 219,656 94,200 313,856
Other comprehensive income – – (10,630) (229) – (10,859) (2,839) (13,698)         

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – (10,630) (229) 219,656 208,797 91,361 300,158 

Capital contribution from  
non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – 5,892 5,892

Dividends approved in respect  
of the previous year – – – – (17,010) (17,010) – (17,010)

Dividends declared in respect  
of the current year – – – – (10,206) (10,206) – (10,206)

Dividends paid by subsidiaries to  
non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – (91,682) (91,682) 

Balance at 31 December 2023 498,305 19,511 (32,083) 2,751 2,629,896 3,118,380 621,418 3,739,798         

Balance at 1 January 2022 498,305 19,511 11,991 3,071 2,374,762 2,907,640 629,047 3,536,687 

Changes in equity for 2022:

Profit for the year – – – – 76,302 76,302 47,897 124,199
Other comprehensive income – – (33,444) (91) – (33,535) (4,001) (37,536)         

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – (33,444) (91) 76,302 42,767 43,896 86,663 

Dividends approved in respect  
of the previous year – – – – (13,608) (13,608) – (13,608)

Dividends paid by subsidiaries to  
non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – (57,096) (57,096) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 498,305 19,511 (21,453) 2,980 2,437,456 2,936,799 615,847 3,552,646         



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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The notes on pages 58 to 126 form part of these financial statements.

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations 18(b) 388,306 335,794
Overseas tax paid (net) (42,792) (24,003)    

Net cash generated from operating activities 345,514 311,791 

Investing activities

Payment for the purchase of non-current financial assets (553) –
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (47,081) (21,653)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8 6,169
Interest received 66,898 23,649
Increase in bank deposits with maturity more than three months (142,962) (70,115)
Dividends received from listed securities 700 457
Dividends received from associates 19,492 11,466    

Net cash used in investing activities (103,498) (50,027) 

Financing activities

Repayment of bank loans 18(c) (1,546) (53,718)
Interest paid 18(c) (91,617) (41,290)
Dividends paid to the equity shareholders of the Company 24(b) (27,216) (13,608)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (91,682) (57,096)    

Net cash used in financing activities (212,061) (165,712) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,955 96,052

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,247,915 1,152,738

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,488) (875)    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,275,382 1,247,915    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents at  
31 December

Deposits and cash 18(a) 1,511,698 1,341,269
Less: Bank deposits with maturity more than three months (236,316) (93,354)    

1,275,382 1,247,915    



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual 
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2 provides information on any changes 
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they 
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost 
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below:

– trading securities and other non-current financial assets (note 1(e));

– derivative financial instruments (note 1(f)); and

– investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and buildings held as investment 
property where the Group is the registered owner of the property interest (note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The est imates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the 
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 29.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only 
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions 
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly 
to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the 
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation 
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business 
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within 
equity, separately from equity attr ibutable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year 
between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders 
of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as 
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with notes 1(m) 
or (n) depending on the nature of the liabilities.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no 
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest 
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained 
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount 
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (note 1(e)) or, when appropriate, 
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate (note 1(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses (note 1(j)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control 
or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy 
decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the 
equity method and is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment 
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share 
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (note 1(j)(ii)). Any 
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the 
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ 
other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is 
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group 
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this 
purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method 
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net 
investment in the associate (after applying the expected credit losses model to such other long-term 
interest where applicable (see note 1(j)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses 
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained 
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is 
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant 
influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial 
recognition of a financial asset (note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are stated at cost less 
impairment losses (note 1(j)(ii)), unless classified as held for sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group 
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation 
of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 26(f). These investments are 
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement 
categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which 
represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is 
calculated using the effective interest method (see note 1(s)(v)).

– fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash 
flows of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the investment 
is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both the col lect ion of 
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest income 
(calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When 
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is 
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

– fair value at profit or loss (“FVPL”) if the investment does not meet the criteria for being 
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment 
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for 
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election 
to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s 
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive 
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the 
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to 
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity 
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as 
other income in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(s)(ii)(c).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting 
period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

(g) Investment properties
Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold interest 
(see note 1(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a 
currently undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or developed for future use 
as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the course of construction or 
development at the end of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at 
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of 
an investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is 
accounted for as described in note 1(s)(ii).

(h) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Hotel properties
Hotel properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (note 1(h)(iii)) and impairment 
losses (note 1(j)(ii)).

(ii) Other property, plant and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets arising from lease of 
underlying plant and equipment (see note 1(i)), except for construction-in-progress, are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation (note 1(h)(i i i ) ) and impairment losses (note  1(j)( i i ) ). 
Construction-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and not subject 
to depreciation.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment that has already 
been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the assets when it is probable that future 
economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing 
asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in 
the period in which it is incurred.

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. The proceeds from selling any such items and the related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or 
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of these assets, less their estimated residual 
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

– Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated over their estimated useful lives of 30 
to 48 years. Freehold land is not depreciated.

– The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the 
shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and the buildings’ estimated useful lives of 30 
to 48 years.

– Motor vehicles 7 years

– Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost 
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated 
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(i) Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has 
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases 
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the 
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments 
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a 
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of 
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing 
rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest 
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence 
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continued)
The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the 
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, 
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is 
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 
1(h)(iii) and 1(j)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted for separately from the right-
of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to investments in debt 
securities carried at amortised cost (see notes 1(e), 1(s)(ii) and 1(j)(i)). Any difference between 
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease 
payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising 
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the 
reassessment of whether the group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension 
or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or 
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease l iabil ity is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or 
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease 
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is 
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions that 
occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out 
in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the group has taken advantage of the 
practical expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and 
recognised the change in consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in 
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease 
liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled 
within twelve months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(ii) As a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the 
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non- lease components, the Group al locates the 
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. 
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in accordance with note 1(s)(ii).

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial 
assets measured at amortised cost (including deposits and cash, trade and other receivables, 
and loan to associates).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity securities measured at FVPL, equity 
securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets, are not subject 
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect 
of discounting is material:

– f ixed-rate f inancial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate 
determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof; and

– variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that 
is available without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default 
events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default 
events over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model 
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors 
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the 
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month 
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since 
initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument 
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making 
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is 
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to 
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past 
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

– failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or 
internal credit rating (if available);

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

– existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the 
Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase 
in credit r isk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the 
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s 
credit r isk since init ial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an 
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all 
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss 
allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(s)(ii)(b) is calculated based on the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which 
case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount 
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A 
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

– significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have 
an adverse effect on the debtor; or

– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the 
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the 
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal 
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 
identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, an impairment loss previously 
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets (other than investment 
properties carried at revalued amounts); and

– investments in subsidiaries and associates in the Company’s statement of financial 
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of i ts fa i r value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an 
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of 
a corporate asset (for example, head office building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to 
the smallest group of cash-generating units if otherwise.

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or 
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit (or group of units) 
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of 
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced 
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if 
determinable).

– Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals 
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are 
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Inventories

(i) Hotel and club operations
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost represents purchase 
cost computed on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(ii) Property development
Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value for completed property held for sale. Cost and net realisable values for 
completed property held for sale are determined as follows:

In the case of completed propert ies developed by the Group, cost is determined by 
apportionment of the total development costs for that development project, attributable to the 
unsold properties. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be 
incurred in selling the property.

The cost of completed properties held for sale comprises all costs of purchase, costs of 
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

(l) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A 
right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment 
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the group has an unconditional 
right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially measured 
at their transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and 
other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method and including allowance for 
credit losses (see note 1(j)(i)).

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit 
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the 
effective interest method.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables (including interest-free loans from non-controlling shareholders) are initially 
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at 
invoice amounts.



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

70 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having 
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for 
expected credit losses in accordance with policy set out in note 1(j)(i).

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement 
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated 
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect 
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of 
termination benefits.

(q) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be 
paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from 
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

– temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does 
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

– temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the 
extent that the group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

– taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Income tax (continued)

– those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to 
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development.

The group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of 
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient 
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing 
temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the 
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when 
the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with note 1(g), the amount 
of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets 
at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the property is depreciable and is held within a 
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in 
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the measurement of deferred tax 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the 
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified 
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder 
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value, which is determined by 
reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when such 
information is obtainable, or interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged 
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that lenders would 
have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where rel iable estimates of such 
information can be made. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the 
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable 
to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate 
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred 
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial 
guarantees issued.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees issued (continued)
The Group monitors the r isk that the specif ied debtor wi l l default on the contract and 
recognises a provision when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher 
than the carrying amount in respect of the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less 
accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk of default of the specified debtor 
since the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that the 
specified debtor will default has increased significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which 
case a lifetime ECL is measured. The same definition of default and the same assessment of 
significant increase in credit risk as described in note 1(j)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the specified 
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated 
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any 
amount that the Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor 
or any other party. The amount is then discounted using the current risk-free rate adjusted for 
risks specific to the cash flows.

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive 
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time 
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure 
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are 
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed 
by another party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be 
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount 
of the provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sales of properties, the provision 
of services or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the 
Group’s business.

Further details of the group’s revenue and other income recognition process are as follow:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, or 
the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the 
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade 
discounts.

(a) Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for sale in the ordinary course 
of business is recognised when legal assignment is completed, which is the point in 
time when the customer has the ability to direct the use of the property and obtain 
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the property. Deposits and instalments 
received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the 
statement of financial position under contract liabilities.

(b) Hotel and club operations

Hotel and club revenue from room rental and club membership income are recognised 
over time. Revenue from food and beverage sales and other ancil lary services are 
generally recongised at the point in time when the services are rendered. The slot 
machine income represents proceeds earned from the operation of slot machines at one 
of the Group’s hotels and is recognised at a point in time based on net receipts from the 
machines.

(c) Management fee income

Management fee income is recognised over time when the services are rendered.

(ii) Revenue from other service and other income
(a) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal 
instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis 
is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased 
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the 
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are 
earned.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(ii) Revenue from other service and other income (continued)
(c) Dividends

– Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s 
right to receive payment is established.

– Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the 
investment goes ex-dividend.

(d) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when 
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same 
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the 
cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are 
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced 
depreciation expense.

(t) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date 
is the date on which the Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of 
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates 
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal 
is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that 
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(v) Related parties
(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i).

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless 
the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of 
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the 
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share 
a majority of these criteria.

(y) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale 
if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing 
use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to 
goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no loss is 
allocated to deferred tax assets, employee benefits assets, financial assets (other than investments 
in subsidiaries and associates) and investment properties, which continue to be measured in 
accordance with the group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification 
as held for sale or held for distribution and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer 
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has applied the following new and amended HKFRSs and guidance issued by the HKICPA to 
these financial statements for the current accounting period:

•	 HKFRS	17,	Insurance	contracts

•	 Amendments	to	HKAS	8,	Accounting	policies,	changes	in	accounting	estimates	and	errors:	Definition	
of accounting estimates

•	 Amendments	 to	HKAS	1,	Presentation	of	 financial	 statements	 and	HKFRS	Practice	Statement	 2,	
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

•	 Amendments	to	HKAS	12,	Income	taxes:	Deferred	tax	related	to	assets	and	liabilities	arising	from	a	
single transaction

•	 Amendments	to	HKAS	12,	Income	taxes:	International	tax	reform	–	Pillar	Two	model	rules
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
•	 HKICPA	guidance,	Accounting	implications	of	the	abolition	of	the	mandatory	provident	fund	(“MPF”)-

long service payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

None of these amendments have had a material impact on the Group’s financial results and financial 
position. The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the 
current accounting period.

3 REVENUE
The principal activities of the Group are hotel and club operations, property investment and development 
and the provision of management services.

Revenue represents the consideration expected to be received in respect of the transfer of goods and 
services in accordance with HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers, except for rental income 
derived from properties and hotels’ shops which is recognised under the scope of HKFRS 16, Leases. 
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by nature is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hotel and club operations
– Rooms 889,713 716,662
– Shops 29,322 27,743
– Food and beverage 254,396 198,659
– Slot machine income 379,082 325,746
– Others 92,650 69,187   

1,645,163 1,337,997

Rental income 86,229 84,699
Management fee income 6,962 6,792   

1,738,354 1,429,488   



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

78 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAINS
(a) Other revenue

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 66,898 23,649
Dividend income from listed securities 700 457
Government grants – 7,309
Forgiveness of bank loans from Paycheck Protection Program  

(note 19(d)) 58,469 –
Others 15,369 9,916   

141,436 41,331   

(b) Other net gains

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net exchange gains/(losses) 5,617 (7,475)
Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on  

derivative financial instruments (4,905) 10,671
Net unrealised gains on other non-current financial assets 12,793 9,281
Net unrealised (losses)/gains on trading securities (1,593) 214
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,157) 4,361   

9,755 17,052   

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAxATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Finance costs

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loan interests 93,286 45,010
Discounting effect on loans from non-controlling shareholders 5,365 5,225
Other interest expenses 179 39   

98,830 50,274   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAxATION (continued)
(b) Staff costs (note)

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits 601,827 518,664
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 11,082 7,127   

612,909 525,791   

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, staff costs of HK$193,692,000 (2022: HK$178,587,000) are 
included in “Administrative and other operating expenses”.

Employee benefits
Summary of defined contribution retirement schemes participated by the Group by location is as 
follows:

Location
Defined contribution 
retirement schemes Details of the scheme

Hong Kong Mandatory Provident  
Fund scheme

5% of the employees’ relevant income with a ceiling 
of HK$1,500 per month by both employers and 
employees

Macau Social Security Fund MOP60 by employers and MOP30 by employees on a 
monthly basis

PRC Central pension scheme 33.56% (2022: 33.56%) of the employees’ salaries 
cost in accordance with the relevant regulations by 
employers

Vietnam Social insurance fund 
scheme

At a prevailing rate of 21.5% of basic salaries by 
employers

United States Voluntary Defined 
Contribution Program

Between 0% and 50% of the compensation to the 
plan subject to certain maximum limits on a pre-tax 
basis by employees and provisions for matching 
contributions, which are based on a portion of the 
participants’ eligible compensation, by employers

Canada Canadian Pension Plan Employers and employees contribute at 4.95% 
each to an employee’s earnings subject to certain 
maximum limits

Japan Pension plan Both employers and employees are required to 
contribute at 9.1% of the employee’s monthly 
salary
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAxATION (continued)
(b) Staff costs (note) (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
The portion of employer’s contributions to which the employees are not entitled and which has 
been forfeited can be used by the Group to reduce the future contributions in some countries. 
During the year ended 31 December 2023, none (2022: HK$Nil) of employer’s contributions to which 
the employees are not entitled and has been forfeited and utilised during the year. No forfeited 
contributions available to reduce the future contributions at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) Other items

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories 143,465 132,740
Auditors’ remuneration

– Audit services 4,386 4,942
– Other services 2,618 1,614

Government rent and rates (note) 55,198 58,452
Rentals income from investment properties less direct outgoings  

of HK$1,030,000 (2022: HK$844,000) (32,896) (33,131)
Rentals income from properties held for sale and other rental  

income less direct outgoings of HK$1,479,000  
(2022: HK$1,357,000) (50,824) (49,367)   

Note: Government rent and rates are included in “Administrative and other operating expenses”.

6 INCOME TAx IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Overseas

Provision for the year (note 23(a)) 61,024 51,406
Under-provision in respect of prior years 409 127   

61,433 51,533   

Deferred tax (note 23(b))

Origination and reversal of other temporary differences (33,412) (45,909)   

28,021 5,624   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6 INCOME TAx IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
(continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: (continued)
Notes:

(i) No provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Company and all other entities comprising 
the Group that are incorporated in Hong Kong sustained a loss for taxation purposes or had unutilised tax 
losses to set-off against taxable income during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

(ii) Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the 
relevant countries.

(iii) The usual income tax rate applicable to Vietnam enterprises before any incentives is 20% (2022: 20%) for 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

(iv) The applicable PRC Enterprise Income Tax of the subsidiary established in the PRC is calculated at 25% 
(2022: 25%) of the estimated taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 2023. No provision has been 
made for PRC Enterprise Income Tax as the subsidiary sustained a loss for taxation purposes during the 
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(v) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the United States, the applicable Federal and State 
Income Tax in respect of the subsidiaries operating in the United States are calculated at a rate of 21% 
(2022: 21%) and 10.87% (2022: 9.98%) respectively determined by income ranges for the year ended 
31 December 2023. United States sourced interest income received by foreign entities are subject to 
withholding tax of 30% (2022: 30%) on all gross income received.

(vi) Under the Japanese domestic law, the subsidiary establ ished in Japan under the Tokumei-Kumiai 
arrangement is subject to Japanese withholding tax at the rate of 20.42% (2022: 20.42%) on all gross profit 
distributions from the subsidiary.

(vii) Provision for Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% (2022: 12%) of the estimated assessable 
profits for the year ended 31 December 2023. Macau Property Tax is calculated at 8% (2022: 8%) of the 
assessable rental income in Macau.

(viii) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of Canada, the applicable federal and provincial statutory 
tax rate is 26.5% (2022: 26.5%).

(ix) Movement in temporary differences included operating losses and asset impairment (note 11(b)) recognised 
as deferred tax assets in respect of hotel operations in the United States.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6 INCOME TAx IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit before taxation at applicable 
tax rates:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 341,877 129,823   

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated
at the rates applicable to profit in the countries concerned 53,742 4,086
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 14,794 18,798
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (36,140) (13,182)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 3,120 5,268
Tax effect of recognition of unused tax losses not  

recognised in prior years (7,604) (9,597)
Under-provision in respect of prior years 409 127
Others (300) 124   

Actual tax expense 28,021 5,624   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and 
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2023 
Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

HO Kian Guan 168 1,268 208 – 1,644
HO Kian Hock 119 1,268 208 – 1,595
TSE See Fan Paul 254 – – – 254
CHAN Lui Ming Ivan 114 422 47 – 583
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn  

(resigned on 30 April 2023) 26 1,390 97 – 1,513
HO Chung Tao (resigned on 31 March 2023) 80 614 91 5 790
HO Chung Hui 95 16 69 – 180
HO Chung Kain  

(alternate director to HO Chung Hui) – 452 69 – 521

Non-executive directors

HO Kian Cheong 95 – – – 95
HO Chung Kiat Sydney  

(alternate director to HO Kian Cheong) – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

KWOK Chi Shun Arthur 280 – – – 280
Stephen TAN 325 – – – 325
WANG Poey Foon Angela 325 – – – 325
YU Hon To David 325 – – – 325      

2,206 5,430 789 5 8,430      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2022 
Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

HO Kian Guan 158 – – – 158
HO Kian Hock 109 – – – 109
TSE See Fan Paul 244 – – – 244
CHAN Lui Ming Ivan 104 – – – 104
YU Yuet Chu Evelyn 90 1,164 97 – 1,351
HO Chung Tao 209 1,288 91 18 1,606
HO Chung Hui 85 367 31 – 483
HO Chung Kain  

(alternate director to HO Chung Hui) – 367 31 – 398

Non-executive directors

HO Kian Cheong 85 – – – 85
HO Chung Kiat Sydney  

(alternate director to HO Kian Cheong) – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

KWOK Chi Shun Arthur 255 – – – 255
Stephen TAN 295 – – – 295
WANG Poey Foon Angela 295 – – – 295
YU Hon To David 295 – – – 295      

2,224 3,186 250 18 5,678      

The Company does not have any share option scheme for the purchase of ordinary shares in the Company. 
None of the directors have received any share based payments from the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no amounts paid to directors and senior 
executives for the compensation for loss of office and inducement for joining the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, directors waived part of their basic salary with total amount of 
HK$139,000 (2022: HK$3,126,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments, none (2022: none) is a director whose emoluments are 
disclosed in note 7.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five (2022: five) other individuals is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other emoluments 10,971 12,415
Discretionary bonuses 2,980 3,184
Retirement scheme contributions 300 166   

14,251 15,765   

The emoluments of the five (2022: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following 
bands:

2023 2022
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 – –
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 2 –
HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 1 3
HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 1 –
HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 1 2   

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of 
the Company of HK$219,656,000 (2022: HK$76,302,000) and on the 340,200,000 ordinary shares in issue 
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

There are no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10 SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of both business lines 
(products and services) and geographical locations. The Group has identified the following three reportable 
segments in a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s 
most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(i) Hotel segment is primarily engaged in the businesses of hotel room accommodation, provision of 
food and beverage at hotel restaurant outlets and operation of slot machines at one of the Group’s 
hotels.

(ii) Property segment is primarily engaged in the businesses of leasing of the Group’s investment 
properties, which mainly consist of retai l , commercial and off ice properties in Macau and of 
development, sales and marketing of the Group’s trading properties in Macau.

(iii) Investment and corporate segment is primarily engaged in the businesses of management of the 
Group’s corporate assets and liabilities, non-trading and trading securities, financial instruments and 
other treasury operations.

Segment results, assets and liabilities
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is provided to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated by those 
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.

Segment assets principally comprise all tangible assets, other non-current assets and current assets 
directly attributable to each segment with the exception of interest in associates.

Segment liabilities include all trade and other payables attributable to the individual segments and other 
borrowings managed directly by the segments with the exception of bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Analysis of segment results of the Group

Revenue Depreciation

Reversal of 
impairment 

loss on 
a hotel 

property
Finance 

costs

Share of 
profit/ 

(loss) of 
associates

Income tax 
(expense)/ 

credit

Contribution 
to profit/ 

(loss)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023

Hotel 1,639,040 (138,468) 58,297 (96,803) 32,346 (11,372) 239,851
– Vietnam 716,100 (46,595) – (1,666) 16,433 (42,469) 182,066
– United States 765,533 (70,181) 58,297 (91,213) – 31,704 39,227
– The People’s Republic of China 45,996 (10,998) – (3,517) – – (7,941)
– Canada 84,964 (7,916) – (407) 15,913 (602) 18,511
– Japan 26,447 (2,778) – – – (5) 7,988

Property
– Macau 96,800 (2,773) – (179) – (6,131) 72,098

Investment and corporate 2,514 (93) – (1,848) (6) (10,518) 1,907        

Total 1,738,354 (141,334) 58,297 (98,830) 32,340 (28,021) 313,856        

Revenue Depreciation
Finance 

costs

Share of 
profit/ 

(loss) of 
associates

Income tax 
(expense)/ 

credit

Contribution 
to profit/ 

(loss)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022

Hotel 1,331,028 (144,804) (48,423) 14,073 13,106 78,953
– Vietnam 593,506 (47,592) (3,238) 8,050 (29,625) 122,833
– United States 627,513 (75,042) (41,465) – 45,252 (40,270)
– The People’s Republic of China 33,063 (11,516) (3,413) – – (18,374)
– Canada 66,403 (9,550) (307) 6,023 (2,516) 16,059
– Japan 10,543 (1,104) – – (5) (1,295)

Property
– Macau 96,346 (4,393) (39) – (8,227) 61,550

Investment and corporate 2,114 (94) (1,812) (2) (10,503) (16,304)       

Total 1,429,488 (149,291) (50,274) 14,071 (5,624) 124,199       
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Analysis of total assets of the Group

Segment 
assets

Interest in 
associates

Total 
assets

Capital 
expenditure

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2023

Hotel
– Vietnam 302,102 51,516 353,618 13,405
– United States 2,492,138 – 2,492,138 15,242
– The People’s Republic of China 142,212 – 142,212 4,824
– Canada 135,643 42,538 178,181 12,660
– Japan 75,108 – 75,108 13

Property
– Macau 1,992,185 – 1,992,185 893

Investment and corporate 558,553 4,142 562,695 44     

Total 5,697,941 98,196 5,796,137 47,081     

Segment 
assets

Interest in 
associates

Total 
assets

Capital 
expenditure

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2022

Hotel
– Vietnam 314,797 54,575 369,372 8,073
– United States 2,430,823 – 2,430,823 6,149
– The People’s Republic of China 148,724 – 148,724 2,910
– Canada 128,052 27,145 155,197 3,167
– Japan 76,948 – 76,948 –

Property
– Macau 1,941,833 – 1,941,833 1,331

Investment and corporate 508,828 4,171 512,999 23     

Total 5,550,005 85,891 5,635,896 21,653     

Investment and corporate segment assets and liabilities mainly represent financial instruments, cash 
and bank deposits and borrowings which are managed centrally by the Group treasury function.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

(c) Analysis of total liabilities of the Group

Segment 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings

Total 
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2023

Hotel
– Vietnam 152,203 – 152,203
– United States 172,714 1,375,474 1,548,188
– The People’s Republic of China 93,860 – 93,860
– Canada 17,133 – 17,133
– Japan 2,916 – 2,916

Property
– Macau 187,967 – 187,967

Investment and corporate 54,072 – 54,072    

Total 680,865 1,375,474 2,056,339    

Segment 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings

Total 
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2022

Hotel
– Vietnam 155,770 – 155,770
– United States 151,372 1,435,804 1,587,176
– The People’s Republic of China 91,340 – 91,340
– Canada 13,849 – 13,849
– Japan 1,315 – 1,315

Property
– Macau 175,412 – 175,412

Investment and corporate 58,388 – 58,388    

Total 647,446 1,435,804 2,083,250    
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
LAND
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

Property, plant and equipment Land  

Investment 
properties

Hotel 
properties

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment Sub-total
Freehold 

land

Interests in 
leasehold 
land held 

for own use Sub-total Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2023 905,400 3,395,880 110,678 897,112 4,403,670 736,194 169,919 906,113 6,215,183
Additions – 24,853 2,114 20,114 47,081 – – – 47,081
Disposals – (7,807) – (35,997) (43,804) – – – (43,804)
Deficit on revaluation (12,500) – – – – – – – (12,500)
Transfer to assets classified as held 

for sale – (198,485) (7,915) (21,019) (227,419) (23,957) – (23,957) (251,376)
Exchange adjustments – (20,817) (187) (8,344) (29,348) (2,594) (2,064) (4,658) (34,006)          

At 31 December 2023 892,900 3,193,624 104,690 851,866 4,150,180 709,643 167,855 877,498 5,920,578          

Representing:

Cost – 3,193,624 104,690 851,866 4,150,180 709,643 167,855 877,498 5,027,678
Valuation - 2023 892,900 – – – – – – – 892,900          

892,900 3,193,624 104,690 851,866 4,150,180 709,643 167,855 877,498 5,920,578          

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment:

At 1 January 2023 – 1,975,535 97,388 789,228 2,862,151 – 97,604 97,604 2,959,755
Charge for the year – 74,712 2,987 60,284 137,983 – 3,351 3,351 141,334
Written back on disposals – (7,046) – (34,593) (41,639) – – – (41,639)
Reversal of impairment loss – (58,297) – – (58,297) – – – (58,297)
Transfer to assets classified as held 

for sale – (138,302) (7,827) (18,258) (164,387) – – – (164,387)
Exchange adjustments – (8,729) 36 (8,566) (17,259) – (1,015) (1,015) (18,274)          

At 31 December 2023 – 1,837,873 92,584 788,095 2,718,552 – 99,940 99,940 2,818,492          

Net book value:

At 31 December 2023 892,900 1,355,751 12,106 63,771 1,431,628 709,643 67,915 777,558 3,102,086          
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
LAND (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Property, plant and equipment Land  

Investment 
properties

Hotel 
properties

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment Sub-total
Freehold 

land

Interests in 
leasehold 
land held 

for own use Sub-total Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2022 901,500 3,449,994 111,333 919,242 4,480,569 741,411 176,298 917,709 6,299,778
Additions – 6,367 193 15,093 21,653 – – – 21,653
Disposals – (350) – (13,807) (14,157) – – – (14,157)
Surplus on revaluation 3,900 – – – – – – – 3,900
Exchange adjustments – (60,131) (848) (23,416) (84,395) (5,217) (6,379) (11,596) (95,991)          

At 31 December 2022 905,400 3,395,880 110,678 897,112 4,403,670 736,194 169,919 906,113 6,215,183 

Representing:

Cost – 3,395,880 110,678 897,112 4,403,670 736,194 169,919 906,113 5,309,783
Valuation - 2022 905,400 – – – – – – – 905,400          

905,400 3,395,880 110,678 897,112 4,403,670 736,194 169,919 906,113 6,215,183          

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment:

At 1 January 2022 – 1,935,877 93,645 751,062 2,780,584 – 97,397 97,397 2,877,981
Charge for the year – 72,888 4,230 68,844 145,962 – 3,329 3,329 149,291
Written back on disposals – (263) – (12,086) (12,349) – – – (12,349)
Exchange adjustments – (32,967) (487) (18,592) (52,046) – (3,122) (3,122) (55,168)          

At 31 December 2022 – 1,975,535 97,388 789,228 2,862,151 – 97,604 97,604 2,959,755          

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022 905,400 1,420,345 13,290 107,884 1,541,519 736,194 72,315 808,509 3,255,428          
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
LAND (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Notes:

(i) Fair value measurement of investment properties

The investment properties were valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, an independent firm of professional 
surveyors with appropriate qualifications and experience in the location and category of property being 
valued, using the income capitalisation approach and with reference to sales evidence as available in the 
market. The income capitalisation approach is the sum of the term value and the reversionary value by 
capitalising the contracted annual rent at the capitalisation rate over the existing lease period; and the sum 
of average unit rent at the capitalisation rate after the existing lease period.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties falls under Level 3 of the three-level fair value hierarchy 
as defined in HKFRS 13. The significant unobservable inputs were average unit rent per month ranging from 
HK$14.0 to HK$25.8 (2022: HK$14.5 to HK$25.3) per square foot and capitalisation rate ranging from 3.0% 
to 4.5% (2022: 3.0% to 4.5%) for the investment properties in Macau. The fair value measurement of the 
investment properties is positively correlated to the average unit rent per month and negatively correlated to 
the capitalisation rate.

The Group’s senior management reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers for financial 
reporting purposes. A valuation report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement is prepared at 
each interim and annual reporting date, and is reviewed and approved by the executive directors. Discussion 
of the valuation process and results are held between the senior management and independent valuer twice 
a year, to coincide with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates.

(ii) Land use rights were granted to the subsidiaries for their hotel properties in (a) Wuhan, the PRC with a 
period of 50 years after receiving an approval for extension of 20 years in 2004 in addition to the initial 
period of 30 years commencing on 21 August 1995, and (b) Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam with a period of 48 
years commencing on 7 May 1994.

(iii) A club house situated in Ocean Gardens is classified under property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
LAND (continued)
(b) Reversal of impairment loss on a hotel property

The value of hotel properties is assessed at the end of each reporting period for indications of 
impairment with reference to valuations undertaken by management. This assessment considers 
various indicators, including ongoing developments in the local market conditions of relevant 
properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the operating performance of one of the Group’s hotel 
properties located in the United States, namely the Sofitel New York, reported a notable improvement 
attributable to the recovery of the hotel and tourism market in New York. The Group assessed that 
the recoverable amount was approximately HK$1,105,839,000. Accordingly, an impairment loss of 
HK$58,297,000, which had been previously recognised, was reversed in profit or loss during the 
year. The estimated recoverable amount of this hotel was determined based on the value in use. The 
calculation model utilised cash flow projections based on the latest financial budgets approved by 
management with the assumptions of (i) average room rate of US$391 with long-term growth rate of 
2%; (ii) long-term occupancy rates of 89%; and (iii) the use of pre-tax discount rate of 8.5%. These 
key estimates and assumptions adopted by management are based on historical performance and 
management’s projections for the market, with reference to publicly available market data. Changes 
in these estimates may result in additional impairment provisions or reversals of impairment in future 
reporting periods.

(c) Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

2023 2022
Note $’000 $’000

Ownership interests in leasehold land held for own use, 
carried at cost, with remaining lease term of: (i)
– between 10 and 50 years 67,915 72,315 

Ownership interests in leasehold other property,  
plant and equipment held for own use, carried at cost, 
with remaining lease term of:
– between 10 and 50 years 2,423 2,499
– less than 10 years – 1,742    

2,423 4,241 

Ownership interests in leasehold investment property, 
carried at fair value, with remaining lease term of:
– less than 10 years 892,900 905,400    

963,238 981,956    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
LAND (continued)
(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

2023 2022
$’000 $’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of  
underlying asset:

Ownership interests in leasehold land 3,351 3,329
Ownership interests in leasehold other property,  

plant and equipment 1,818 3,559   

5,169 6,888   

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land held for own use
The Group holds ownership interests in several leasehold lands for i ts hotel and club 
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these land interests from their 
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms 
of the land lease, other than payments required by the relevant government authorities. These 
payments vary from time to time and are payable to the relevant government authorities.

(d) Properties leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out hotels’ shops and investment properties under operating leases. The leases 
typically run for an initial period of one to ten years, with an option to renew the lease after that date, 
at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every two years to 
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place at the reporting date 
will be receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 51,272 57,122
After 1 year but within 2 years 27,239 41,450
After 2 year but within 3 years 12,263 21,771
After 3 year but within 4 years 7,079 7,029
After 4 year but within 5 years 3,779 1,938
After 5 years 349 577   

101,981 129,887   



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

95ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets 
or liabilities of the Group, all of which are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(c) and whose 
results, assets and liabilities have been consolidated into the Group’s financial statements. The class of 
shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
operation Issued equity capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activity

 

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held by the 
Company

Held by 
subsidiaries

Ocean Incorporation Ltd Macau Two quotas of Ptc9,999,000 and 
Ptc1,000 respectively  
totalling Ptc10,000,000

100% 100% – Property investment  
and investment  
holding

Golden Crown Development 
Limited (“Golden Crown”)

Macau 70,000,000 shares of Ptc1 each 70.61% – 70.61% Property development  
and investment

Ocean Place Joint Venture 
Company Limited (“OPJV”)

Vietnam US$29,100,000 64.12%** – 70% Operation of a hotel

Hubei	Qing	Chuan	 
Hotel Company Limited  
(“Qing	Chuan”)	#

PRC US$16,300,000 41.26% – 55% Operation of a hotel

KSSF Enterprises Limited USA 26,000,000 common stock and 
35,000,000 series A preferred 
stock of US$1 each

100% – 100% Operation of a hotel

KSSNY, Inc. USA 26,000,000 common stock and 
69,000,000 preferred stock of 
US$1 each

100% – 100% Operation of a hotel

Godo Kaisha TSM 107 Japan JPY500,000 100% 0.54% 99.46% Operation of a hotel

Chateau Ottawa Hotel Inc. 
(“Chateau Ottawa”)

Canada 9,000,000 common shares and 
2,700,000 preferred shares of 
C$1 each

85% – 85% Operation of a hotel

#	 Qing	Chuan	was	established	in	the	PRC	as	a	Sino-foreign	equity	joint	venture	in	1995.

** The Group’s effective equity interest in OPJV of 64.12% is computed based on the shareholding held by the 
Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The following table lists out the information relating to Golden Crown and OPJV of the Group which 
have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial information presented below 
represents the amounts before any inter-company elimination:

Golden Crown OPJV

2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NCI percentage 29.39% 29.39% 45.04% 45.04%
Current assets 863,467 842,988 116,321 86,905
Non-current assets 748,700 750,932 313,811 227,892
Current liabilities (151,138) (154,694) (152,247) (155,814)
Non-current liabilities (78,267) (78,715) – –
Net assets 1,382,762 1,360,511 277,885 158,983
Carrying amount of NCI 406,394 399,854 155,745 125,628

Revenue 74,988 73,545 716,100 593,506
Profit for the year 71,251 54,888 164,801 114,007
Total comprehensive income 71,251 54,888 161,663 107,512
Profit allocated to NCI 20,941 16,131 74,226 51,349
Dividend paid to NCI 14,401 14,401 66,785 42,695

Cash flows from operating activities 37,179 11,516 98,935 91,851
Cash flows from investing activities (17,356) 3,111 (33,271) (923)
Cash flows from financing activities 11 (15,806) (7,638) (72,269)     

13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 94,541 82,214
Loans to associates 3,655 3,677   

98,196 85,891   

Loan from an associate 464 464   

Loans to associates are unsecured and recoverable on demand and are not expected to be recovered 
within one year. The management assessed that the allowance for expected credit losses is insignificant 
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Loan from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which are unlisted corporate entities, whose 
quoted market price is not available:

Name of associate
Form of 
business structure

Place of incorporation/
operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Principal activity

 

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company

KSF Enterprises Sdn Bhd 
(“KSF”)

Incorporated Malaysia 25% 25% Investment holding  
(note (a))

Porchester Assets Limited 
(“PAL”)

Incorporated British Virgin Islands 49% 49% Investment holding  
(note (b))

Notes:

(a) KSF holds 100% interest in KSD Enterprises Ltd. (“KSD”) which operates Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto Airport 
& Conference Centre in Canada.

(b) PAL holds 51% interest in Chains Caravelle Hotel Joint Venture Company Limited (“CCH”) which operates the 
Caravelle Hotel in Vietnam. The Group’s effective interest in CCH is 24.99%.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised financial information of the material associate, adjusted for any differences in accounting 
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed 
below:

CCH

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts of the associate

Current assets 196,216 145,481
Non-current assets 179,796 193,354
Current liabilities (73,039) (41,461)
Non-current liabilities (39,022) (30,328)
Equity 263,951 267,046

Revenue 457,513 352,621
Profit for the year 75,082 33,673
Total comprehensive income 75,082 33,673
Dividend received/receivable from the associate 19,492 11,714

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in the associate

Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 263,951 267,046
Group’s effective interest 24.99% 24.99%   

Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 65,961 66,735   

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates  
in the consolidated financial statements 28,580 15,479

Aggregated amounts of the Group’s share of those associates’
Profit for the year 13,577 7,188
Other comprehensive income (542) (1,338)
Total comprehensive income 13,035 5,850   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

14 OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling)

– Listed outside Hong Kong 3,342 3,571

Financial assets measured at FVPL

– Unlisted securities (i) 134,021 117,040    

137,363 120,611    

Notes:

(i) At 31 December 2023, the Group owned 8.10% (2022: 8.10%) interest of A2I Holdings S.A.R.L.. A2I Holdings 
S.A.R.L. is a private limited liability company incorporated in Luxembourg which owns 6.75% (2022: 6.75%) equity 
shares of Accorlnvest Group S.A..

15 TRADING SECURITIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong, at market value 10,561 12,154   

16 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The title and lease term of the properties held for sale by the Group is summarised as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Outside Hong Kong
– freehold 8,599 8,599
– short term lease 270,274 270,274   

278,873 278,873   

The rental income from properties held for sale is set out in note 5(c).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

16 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continued)
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place at the reporting date will be 
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 27,699 27,293
After 1 year but within 2 years 11,077 13,193
After 2 year but within 3 years 3,564 1,113
After 3 year but within 4 years 2,348 445
After 4 year but within 5 years 2,312 445
After 5 years 5 409   

47,005 42,898   

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 39,375 44,887
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 57,063 30,787   

96,438 75,674   

The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 26(a).

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts expected to be recoverable:
– within one year 95,734 74,732
– after one year 704 942   

96,438 75,674   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables (net of loss allowance) with the following 
ageing analysis (by invoice date) as of the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 30,414 37,960
1 to 3 months 6,439 3,692
More than 3 months 2,522 3,235   

39,375 44,887   

77% of trade receivables at 31 December 2023 (2022: 85%) were neither past due nor more than one month 
past due.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These 
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, 
and may take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic 
environment in which the customer operates. The general credit terms allowed range from 0 to 30 days. 
Trade customers with balances that are more than three months overdue are requested to settle all 
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral 
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which 
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate 
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past 
due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases. The management 
assessed that the allowance for expected credit losses is insignificant during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

18 DEPOSITS AND CASH
(a) Deposits and cash:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,314,073 1,123,978
Cash at bank and on hand 197,625 217,291   

1,511,698 1,341,269   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

18 DEPOSITS AND CASH (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 341,877 129,823

Adjustments for:
Net decrease/(increase) in fair value of  

investment properties 11(a) 12,500 (3,900)
Depreciation 11(a) 141,334 149,291
Interest income 4(a) (66,898) (23,649)
Dividend income from listed securities 4(a) (700) (457)
Forgiveness of bank loans 4(a) (58,469) –
Net unrealised losses/(gains) on  

derivative financial instruments 4(b) 4,905 (10,671)
Net unrealised gains on other  

non-current financial assets 4(b) (12,793) (9,281)
Net unrealised losses/(gains) on trading securities 4(b) 1,593 (214)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment 4(b) 2,157 (4,361)
Finance costs 5(a) 98,830 50,274
Reversal of impairment loss on a hotel property 11(b) (58,297) –
Share of net profits of associates (32,340) (14,071)
Foreign exchange differences (3,881) 4,663    

Operating profit before changes in working capital 369,818 267,447
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 40 (799)
Increase in trade and other receivables (22,140) (7,501)
Increase in trade and other payables 40,588 76,647    

Cash generated from operations 388,306 335,794    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

18 DEPOSITS AND CASH (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as 
cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans 
and other 

borrowings
Accrued 
interest Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

At 1 January 2023 1,550,778 6,584 1,557,362 

Changes from financing cash flows:

Repayment of bank loans (1,546) – (1,546)
Interest paid – (91,617) (91,617)    

Total changes from financing cash flows (1,546) (91,617) (93,163) 

Exchange adjustments (1,319) (7) (1,326) 

Other change:

Capital contribution from  
non-controlling shareholders (5,892) – (5,892)

Forgiveness of bank loans (note 4(a)) (58,469) – (58,469)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) 5,365 93,465 98,830    

Total other change (58,996) 93,465 34,469 

At 31 December 2023 1,488,917 8,425 1,497,342    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

18 DEPOSITS AND CASH (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

Bank loans 
and other 

borrowings
Accrued 
interest Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

At 1 January 2022 1,599,877 2,796 1,602,673 

Changes from financing cash flows:

Repayment of bank loans (53,718) – (53,718)
Interest paid – (41,290) (41,290)    

Total changes from financing cash flows (53,718) (41,290) (95,008) 

Exchange adjustments (606) 29 (577) 

Other change:

Interest expenses (note 5(a)) 5,225 45,049 50,274    

Total other change 5,225 45,049 50,274 

At 31 December 2022 1,550,778 6,584 1,557,362    

Note:

(i) Bank loans and other borrowings consist of loan from an associate, bank loans and loans from non-
controlling shareholders as disclosed in notes 13, 19 and 22.

(ii) Accrued interest is included in “Payables and accruals” as disclosed in note 20.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

19 BANK LOANS
(a) At 31 December 2023, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year or on demand 319,391 1,359,323 

After 1 year but within 2 years 6,701 –
After 2 year but within 5 years 1,049,382 76,481   

1,056,083 76,481 

1,375,474 1,435,804   

At 31 December 2023, the bank loans were secured and unsecured as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans
– Secured (note 19(b)) 1,358,870 1,359,323
– Unsecured 16,604 76,481   

1,375,474 1,435,804   

At 31 December 2023, except for the loans received by two of the Group’s subsidiaries amounting 
to HK$16,604,000 (2022: HK$76,481,000) which bear fixed interest rates, all other bank loans bear 
interest at floating interest rates which approximate to market rates of interest.

(b) At 31 December 2023, the banking facilities available to the Company and certain subsidiaries of the 
Group were secured by:

(i) Properties held for sale with a carrying value of HK$64,366,000 (2022: HK$64,366,000), and

(ii) H o t e l  p r o p e r t i e s ,  i n c l u d i n g  l a n d ,  o f  t h e  G r o u p  w i t h  a g g r e g a t e  c a r r y i n g  v a l u e  o f 
HK$1,835,269,000 (2022: HK$1,830,666,000).

Such banking facilities amounted to HK$1,443,870,000 (2022: HK$1,444,323,000) and were utilised 
to the extent of HK$1,358,870,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$1,359,323,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

19 BANK LOANS (continued)
(c) Except for the loans received by two of the Group’s subsidiaries amounting to HK$16,604,000 (2022: 

HK$76,481,000), all of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating 
to certain of the Group’s financial ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with 
financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, depositing or prepaying the shortfall 
balance will be required. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further 
details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 26(b).

As at 31 December 2023, certain covenant ratios of two bank loans (referred as “Loan 1” and “Loan 
2”, respectively) entered into by two of the Group’s subsidiaries deviated from the requirements as 
stated in the relevant loan agreements. For both Loan 1 and Loan 2, the Group has obtained waivers 
from the banks to waive the testing of the covenant prior to the end of the reporting period and the 
waivers to exempt those covenants testing covered a period of twelve months from 31 December 
2023.

As at 31 December 2022, certain covenant ratios of two bank loans (referred as “Loan 1” and “Loan 
2”, respectively) entered into by two of the Group’s subsidiaries deviated from the requirements as 
stated in the relevant loan agreements. For both Loan 1 and Loan 2, the Group had obtained waivers 
from the banks to waive the testing of the covenant prior to the end of the reporting period and the 
waivers to exempt those covenants testing covered a period until the loan maturity in October 2023.

(d) Dur ing the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group obta ined bank loans forg iveness of 
US$7,466,000 (approximately HK$58,469,000) under the Paycheck Protection Program administered 
by the United States Government.

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 128,462 105,621
Payables and accruals 148,114 137,412
Deposits and receipts in advance 177,038 170,914   

453,614 413,947   

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors (which are included in trade and 
other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 74,880 64,866
1 to 3 months 50,131 36,757
More than 3 months 3,451 3,998   

128,462 105,621   

All of the payables and accruals are expected to be settled within one year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

21 DEFERRED REVENUE
Deferred revenue represents amounts received in advance under service contracts. The amounts expected 
to be recognised as income after more than one year are included under non-current liabilities.

22 LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, loans from non-controlling shareholders were unsecured, interest-
bearing at prime lending rate and repayable on demand except for amounts of HK$33,126,000 (2022: 
HK$37,160,000) and HK$75,698,000 (2022: HK$73,283,000) which were unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on 30 April 2026 and 30 April 2025 (2022: repayable on 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2025), 
respectively. The amount of HK$108,824,000 (2022: HK$73,283,000) was classified as non-current 
liabilities.

23 INCOME TAx IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision for overseas tax for the year 61,024 51,406
Provisional tax paid (35,487) (22,085)   

25,537 29,321
Balance of overseas tax receivables relating to prior years (7,026) (29,216)   

18,511 105   

Taxation recoverable (2,600) (24,134)
Taxation payable 21,111 24,239   

18,511 105   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

23 INCOME TAx IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Revaluation 
of investment 

properties
Tax losses 
recognised

Withholding 
tax

Depreciation 
allowance 

in excess of 
the related 

depreciation 
and others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2022 91,463 (214,827) (284) (163,044) (286,692)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 

(note 6(a)) 468 (44,372) – (2,005) (45,909)
Exchange difference – (244) – 348 104      

At 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 91,931 (259,443) (284) (164,701) (332,497)

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss 
(note 6(a)) (1,500) (41,865) – 9,953 (33,412)

Exchange difference – 204 – (199) 5      

At 31 December 2023 90,431 (301,104) (284) (154,947) (365,904)      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

23 INCOME TAx IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the  
statement of financial position (455,818) (423,611)

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the  
statement of financial position 89,914 91,114   

(365,904) (332,497)   

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised:
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Future benefit of tax losses 11,954 10,754   

The Group has not recognised the deferred tax assets attributable to the future benefit of tax losses 
sustained in the operations of certain subsidiaries as the availability of future taxable profits against 
which the assets can be utilised is not considered to be probable at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 
The tax losses arising from Hong Kong operations do not expire under current tax legislation. The tax 
losses arising from Macau and PRC operations expire three years and five years respectively after the 
relevant accounting year end date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

24 CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES
(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and 
the end of the year are set out below.

The Company

Share 
capital

Exchange 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 498,305 736 3,071 1,483,946 1,986,058

Changes in equity for 2022:

Profit for the year – – – 12,270 12,270
Other comprehensive income – – (91) – (91)      

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – (91) 12,270 12,179 

Dividends approved in respect of  
the previous year (note (b)) – – – (13,608) (13,608) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  
and 1 January 2023 498,305 736 2,980 1,482,608 1,984,629

Changes in equity for 2023:

Profit for the year – – – 43,289 43,289
Other comprehensive income – – (229) – (229)      

Total comprehensive income for  
the year – – (229) 43,289 43,060 

Dividends approved in respect of  
the previous year (note (b)) – – – (17,010) (17,010)

Dividends declared in respect of  
the current year (note (b)) – – – (10,206) (10,206)      

Balance at 31 December 2023 498,305 736 2,751 1,498,681 2,000,473      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

24 CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend declared and paid of HK$0.03  
(2022: HK$Nil) per ordinary share 10,206 –

Final dividend proposed after the end of  
the reporting period of HK$0.08 (2022: HK$0.05) 27,216 17,010   

37,422 17,010   

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a 
liability at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous financial 
year, approved and paid during the year

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year,  
approved and paid during the year, of HK$0.05  
(2022: HK$0.04) per ordinary share 17,010 13,608   

(c) Share capital

2023 2022
No. of 

shares Amount
No. of 
shares Amount

‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares, issued and  
fully paid:

At 1 January and 31 December 340,200 498,305 340,200 498,305     

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with 
regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

24 CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Legal reserve
The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents transfer from annual profits up to 
a maximum of 50 percent of the issued and paid up capital of the Macau subsidiaries in 
accordance with the Macau Commercial Code.

(ii) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policy set out in note 1(t).

(iii) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value 
of equity investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the 
reporting period (see note 1(e)).

(e) Distributability of reserves
At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves avai lable for distr ibution to equity 
shareholders of the Company was HK$1,498,681,000 (2022: HK$1,482,608,000).

(f) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by 
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance 
between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and 
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the 
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For 
this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total bank borrowings less deposits and cash (including 
pledged deposits). Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed 
dividends.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

24 CAPITAL, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)
The adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans 19 1,375,474 1,435,804
Less: Deposits and cash 18 (1,511,698) (1,341,269)    

Adjusted net (asset)/debt (136,224) 94,535    

Total equity 3,739,798 3,552,646
Less: Proposed dividends (27,216) (17,010)    

Adjusted capital 3,712,582 3,535,636    

Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio N/A 3%    

Except for covenants relating to certain of the banking facilities of the subsidiaries of the Group as 
disclosed in note 19, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

25 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
On 6 October 2023, Chateau Ottawa Hotel Inc. (the “Vendor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Group entered into an agreement with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which 
the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire, its 
interest in the hotel assets mainly comprise Sheraton Ottawa Hotel in Canada (“the Hotel Assets”) at the 
consideration of CAD43,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$246,685,000). At 31 December 2023, 
deposits of CAD500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,947,000) have been paid by the Purchaser 
to the Vendor’s solicitor in escrow. The disposal was completed on 29 February 2024 with gain before 
taxation and transaction costs on disposal of approximately CAD28,014,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$161,622,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)
At 31 December 2023, the Group classified the Hotel Assets as held for sale, as follows

2023
HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment and land 88,283
Inventories 308
Other receivables 906  

89,497  

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency and interest rate risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities 
and movements in its own equity share price. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk 
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
a financial loss to the Group. Substantially all the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited 
with financial institutions in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC, Singapore, the United States, Japan, 
Canada and Vietnam that are of high-credit quality to minimise credit risk exposure.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The Group has a 
defined credit policy. The general credit terms allowed range from 0 to 30 days. Trade customers with 
balances that are more than three months overdue are requested to settle all outstanding balances 
before any further credit is granted. The exposures to these credit risks (including loan to associates) 
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not have significant concentration of credit risk.

(b) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure that 
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of 
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash 
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates 
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Repayable 
within 

1 year or 
on demand

Repayable 
more than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

Repayable 
more than 

2 years 
but less than 

5 years
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans 1,375,474 1,615,075 91,764 91,388 1,431,923
Trade and other payables 387,608 387,608 387,608 – –
Loan from an associate 464 464 464 – –
Loans from non-controlling 

shareholders 112,979 123,690 5,279 80,638 37,773      

At 31 December 2023 1,876,525 2,126,837 485,115 172,026 1,469,696      

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Repayable 
within 

1 year or 
on demand

Repayable 
more than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

Repayable 
more than 

2 years 
but less than 

5 years
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans 1,435,804 1,467,844 1,391,363 – 76,481
Trade and other payables 317,262 317,262 317,262 – –
Loan from an associate 464 464 464 – –
Loans from non-controlling 

shareholders 114,510 124,298 42,444 – 81,854      

At 31 December 2022 1,868,040 1,909,868 1,751,533 – 158,335      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(c) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through deposits and cash that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. As the Hong Kong 
dollar (“HKD”) is pegged to United States dollar (“USD”), the Group does not expect any significant 
movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate. The currencies giving rise to currency risk are primarily 
denominated in Singapore dollars.

(i) Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s significant exposure at the end of the reporting period 
to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation purpose, the 
amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at 
the end of the reporting period. Differences resulting from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

2023

Exposure to 
foreign 

currency 
SGD

HK$’000

Deposits and cash 3,365  

Net exposure arising from recognised assets and  
liabilities at 31 December 2023 3,365  

2022

Exposure to 
foreign 

currency 
SGD

HK$’000

Deposits and cash 3,518  

Net exposure arising from recognised assets and  
liabilities at 31 December 2022 3,518  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(c) Currency risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax and 
retained profits that would arise from foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant 
exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk 
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between HKD 
and USD would not be materially affected by any changes in movement in value of USD against 
other currencies. Other components of equity would not be affected by changes in the foreign 
exchange rates.

2023 2022
Increase/
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange 

rates

Effect on 
profit 

after tax

Effect on 
retained 

profits

Increase/
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange 

rates

Effect on 
profit 

after tax

Effect on 
retained 

profits
% HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000

Singapore Dollars 10 337 337 10 352 352
(10) (337) (337) (10) (352) (352)       

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the 
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax in the respective functional 
currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for 
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to 
re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to currency 
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within 
the Group which are denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of the 
lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would result from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(d) Interest rate risk

(i) The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rates changes on interest-
bearing borrowings and income-earning financial assets. The following table indicates their 
effective interest rates at the end of the reporting period and the periods in which they reprice 
or the maturity dates, if earlier.

2023 2022

Fixed/floating
Effective 

interest rate Amount
Effective 

interest rate Amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing borrowings

Bank loans Floating 5.40% – 6.70% 1,358,870 1.13% – 5.80% 1,359,323
Bank loans Fixed 1.00% 16,604 1.00% 76,481      

1,375,474 1,435,804      

Income-earning financial assets

Cash at bank and on hand Floating 0.00% – 5.00% 197,625 0.00% – 4.44% 217,291
Time Deposits Fixed 0.38% – 6.72% 1,314,073 0.05% – 5.25% 1,123,978      

1,511,698 1,341,269      

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 1% in interest rates, with 
all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s results and retained 
profits by HK$11,907,000 (2022: HK$11,784,000) and HK$13,005,000 (2022: HK$12,770,000) 
respectively. Other components of equity would not be affected by changes in the interest 
rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax 
and retained profits that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments 
held by the Group which expose the Group to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting 
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments held for non-trading 
(note 14) and trading purposes (note 15). They have been selected taking reference to their longer 
term growth potential and are monitored regularly for performance.

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an (decrease)/increase of 5% (2022: 5%) in the relevant 
stock market index (for listed investments), the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies 
(for unquoted investments) or the Company’s own share price (for the conversion option of certain 
convertible bonds) as applicable, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated 
equity as follows:

2023 2022
Effect on 

results for 
the year 

and retained 
profits

Effect on 
other 

components 
of equity

Effect on 
results for 

the year 
and retained 

profits

Effect on 
other 

components 
of equity

% HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000
Change in the relevant  

equity price risk variable:

Increase 5 528 167 5 608 179
Decrease (5) (528) (167) (5) (608) (179)       

The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
The Group’s listed securities are measured using market quoted price and therefore fall within 
the Level 1 fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13. All derivative financial instruments 
carried at fair value are categorised as falling under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The 
unlisted securities carried at fair value are categorised as falling under Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

(ii) V a l u a t i o n  t e c h n i q u e s  a n d i n p u t s  u s e d i n  L e v e l  2  f a i r  v a l u e 
measurements
The Group’s derivative financial instrument of currency swap is the estimated amount that the 
Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account current exchange rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. 
This derivative financial instrument falls within the Level 2 fair value hierarchy as defined in 
HKFRS 13.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation techniques
Significant 
unobservable inputs Range

Unlisted securities Adjusted net asset value Underlying  
assets’ value

N/A

Discount for 
marketability

25% to 30%  
(2022: 25% to 30%)

The fair value of unlisted securities is determined using adjusted net asset value, which is 
positively correlated to the underlying assets’ values and negatively correlated to the discount 
for marketability. The following table indicates instantaneous changes in the Group’s result if 
there is an increase/decrease in these two significant unobservable inputs, assuming all other 
variables remain constant.

2023 2022

Significant unobservable inputs

Increase/
(decrease) 

in significant 
unobservable 

inputs

Increase/
(decrease) on 

the Group’s 
profit

Increase/
(decrease) on 

the Group’s 
profit

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Underlying assets’ value 5 6,701 5,852
(5) (6,701) (5,852)    

Discount for marketability 1 (1,906) (1,665)
(1) 1,906 1,665    

The movements during the years in the balance of Level 3 fair value measurements are as 
follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets measured at FVPL:
– Unlisted securities:

At 1 January 117,040 113,332
Capital contribution 553 –
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 12,792 9,281
Unrealised exchange gain/(loss) 3,636 (5,573)   

At 31 December 134,021 117,040   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(iv) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair 
value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or amortised 
cost were not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and 31 
December 2023.

27 COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2023, capital commitments outstanding not provided for in the financial statements were 
as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted for 8,944 29,056
Authorised but not contracted for 46,567 28,185   

55,511 57,241   

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group 
entered into the following material related party transactions, which were on commercial terms, with Mr 
Ho Kian Cheong (“KC Ho”), Goodland Limited (“Goodland”), Kansas Holdings Limited (“Kansas”) and KSC 
Enterprises Limited (“KSC”).

KC Ho is a non-executive director and a substantial shareholder of the Company at 31 December 2023 
and 2022. Goodland holds 28% of the equity interest in the Company at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 
Kansas holds 30% of the equity interest in the Company at 31 December 2023 and 2022. KSC is the fellow 
subsidiary of Kansas and Goodland. Mr Ho Kian Guan and Mr Ho Kian Hock, executive directors of the 
Company, each had 1/3 indirect interest in Goodland, Kansas and KSC and are also directors of Goodland 
and Kansas. They are deemed to be interested in the following transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

For the year ended 
31 December

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Transactions with Goodland

Rental income receivable (i) 520 509
Management fee payable (ii) 1,968 1,968

(b) Balances with Goodland

Amount due to Goodland (iv) 163 88

(c) Balances with KC Ho

Loan from KC Ho (iii) 12,122 12,077
Amount due to KC Ho (iii) 604 610

(d) Balances with Kansas

Loan from Kansas (iii) 50,042 49,856
Amount due to Kansas (iii) 2,681 2,760

(e) Balances with KSC

Loan from KSC (iii) 4,155 4,067

Notes:

(i) A subsidiary of the Company rented certain of its properties to Goodland and received rental income.

(ii) Certain subsidiaries of the Company paid management fees to Goodland.

(iii) At 31 December 2023, loans from KC Ho of HK$9,540,000 (2022: HK$9,180,000) and HK$2,582,000 (2022: 
HK$2,897,000) were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 30 April 2025 and 30 April 2026 (2022: repayable 
on 30 April 2025 and 30 April 2023), respectively. Amount due to KC Ho of HK$604,000 (2022: HK$610,000) was 
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2023, loan from Kansas of HK$39,382,000 (2022: HK$37,898,000) and HK$10,660,000 (2022: 
HK$11,958,000) were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 30 April 2025 and 30 April 2026 (2022: repayable 
on 30 April 2025 and 30 April 2023), respectively. Amount due to Kansas of HK$2,681,000 (2022: HK$2,760,000) 
which was interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

Loan from KSC of HK$4,155,000 (2022: HK$4,067,000) was unsecured, interest-bearing on prime lending rate and 
repayable on demand.

Loans from KC Ho, Kansas and KSC are included in loans from non-controlling shareholders (note 22). Amount due 
to KC Ho and Kansas are included in trade and other payable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv) At 31 December 2023, trade and other payables included amount due to Goodland of HK$163,000 (2022: 
HK$88,000) comprising:

– interest bearing accounts with certain subsidiaries of the Company amounting to HK$97,000 (2022: 
HK$30,000).

– non-interest bearing accounts with certain subsidiaries of the Company amounted to HK$66,000 (2022: 
HK$58,000).

The balances are unsecured and repayable on demand.

The related party transactions above constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the section 
“Related Party Transactions” of the directors’ report.

29 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Note 26 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to financial instruments. 
Other significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Valuation of investment properties
Investment properties are included in the statement of financial position at their market value, 
which is assessed annually by independent qualified valuers, after taking into consideration 
the net income allowing for reversionary income potential. The assumptions adopted in the 
property valuation are based on the market conditions existing at the end of the reporting 
period, with reference to current market sales prices and the appropriate capitalisation rate.

(ii) Impairment of assets
The Group reviews internal and external sources of information at the end of each reporting 
period to identify indications that assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously 
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. The Group est imates the asset’s 
recoverable amount when any such indication exists. The recoverable amount of an asset, or 
of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. The preparation of projected future 
cash flows involves the estimation of future revenue and operating costs which are based on 
reasonable assumptions supported by information available to the Group. Changes in these 
estimates would result in additional impairment provisions or reversal of impairment in future 
years.



K
E

C
K

 S
E

N
G

 IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 (H
O

N
G

 K
O

N
G

) LIM
IT

E
D

124 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

29 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii) Fair value of unlisted securities
The Group adopts the adjusted net asset value approach to assess the fair value of unlisted 
securities annually after taking into consideration the underlying assets’ value and discount for 
marketability.

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The Group has temporarily leased out certain properties held for sale but does not consider these 
properties to be investment properties because it is not the Group’s intention to hold them in the 
long-term for capital appreciation or rental income. Accordingly, these properties are still classified 
as properties held for sale.

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i) At 31 December 2023, there were outstanding counter indemnities relating to guarantees issued 

by the bankers of a subsidiary in favour of the Macau Special Administrative Region Government in 
respect of properties held for sale amounted to HK$8,252,000 (2022: HK$8,252,000).

At 31 December 2023, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the 
Group under any of the guarantees. The Group have not recognised any deferred income in respect 
of any of the above guarantees as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and they were issued 
many years ago and their transaction price was Nil.

(ii) The Company has undertaken to provide financial support to one of its subsidiaries in order to enable 
it to continue to operate as a going concern.

(iii) The Company has undertaken to provide guarantee to banks in respect of bank loans granted to two 
of its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2,481 2,531
Interest in subsidiaries 2,131,068 2,047,958
Interest in associates 31,773 31,773
Other non-current financial assets 137,363 120,611    

2,302,685 2,202,873 

Current assets

Trading securities 10,561 12,154
Properties held for sale 10,727 10,727
Trade and other receivables 3,202 6,923
Deposits and cash 239,857 184,879    

264,347 214,683 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7,853 7,912
Taxation payable 1,020 1,931    

8,873 9,843 

Net current assets 255,474 204,840 

Total assets less current liabilities 2,558,159 2,407,713

Non-current liability

Amounts due to subsidiaries 557,686 423,084    

NET ASSETS 2,000,473 1,984,629    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24

Share capital 498,305 498,305
Reserves 1,502,168 1,486,324    

TOTAL EQUITY 2,000,473 1,984,629    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2024.

Ho Kian Guan Tse See Fan Paul
Executive Chairman Executive Director
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

32 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
As 31 December 2023, Kansas and Goodland hold 30% and 28% respectively of the equity interest in the 
Company. The directors consider the ultimate controlling party of the Group to be KS Ocean Inc., which 
is incorporated in Republic of Liberia. This entity does not produce financial statements available for the 
public use.

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,  NEW STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended 
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been 
adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the following which may be relevant to 
the Group.

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:  
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current  
(“2020 amendments”) 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:  
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”) 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases:	Lease	liability	in	a	sale	and	leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7,  
Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates:  
Lack	of	exchangeability 1 January 2025

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is 
unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Revenue 1,738,354 1,429,488 482,878 665,709 1,943,399      

Profit/(loss) before share of profits less losses  
of associates 309,537 115,752 (230,448) (742,429) 39,405

Share of results of associates 32,340 14,071 (11,628) (15,347) 5,682      

Profit/(loss) before taxation 341,877 129,823 (242,076) (757,776) 45,087
Income tax (28,021) (5,624) 57,872 211,815 79,238      

Profit/(loss) for the year 313,856 124,199 (184,204) (545,961) 124,325      

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 219,656 76,302 (194,724) (562,586) 5,516
Non-controlling interests 94,200 47,897 10,520 16,625 118,809      

313,856 124,199 (184,204) (545,961) 124,325      

Consolidated statement of financial position

Investment properties, property,  
plant and equipment and land 3,102,086 3,255,428 3,421,797 3,537,291 3,950,958

Interest in associates 98,196 85,891 84,645 105,825 121,060
Other non-current assets 601,657 557,594 496,697 436,035 367,943
Current assets 1,994,198 1,736,983 1,575,885 1,675,375 2,392,160      

5,796,137 5,635,896 5,579,024 5,754,526 6,832,121      

Share capital 498,305 498,305 498,305 498,305 498,305
Reserves 2,620,075 2,438,494 2,409,335 2,603,168 3,200,903
Non-controlling interests 621,418 615,847 629,047 633,796 678,464
Non-current liabilities 1,257,604 244,050 1,322,060 947,083 187,998
Current liabilities 798,735 1,839,200 720,277 1,072,174 2,266,451      

5,796,137 5,635,896 5,579,024 5,754,526 6,832,121      

Other data

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 64.6 22.4 (57.2) (165.4) 1.6
Dividends per share (cents) 11.0 5.0 4.0 N/A 8.0
Dividend cover (times) 5.9 4.5 N/A N/A 0.2
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Properties
Group’s 
interest Type No. of units

Gross 
floor area Lease term

(sq. ft.)

Properties classified as investment properties

Luso International Bank Building  
1, 3 and 3A Rua Do  
Dr. Pedro Jose Lobo, Macau

100% Office 40 30,264 Short lease

Ocean Plaza, I & II  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Commercial 47 94,525 Short lease

Ocean Tower  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Office 19 49,703 Short lease

Ocean Tower  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Car parks 206 N/A Short lease

Properties classified as hotel properties

Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto Airport  
& Conference Centre  
Toronto, Canada

25% Hotel 433 447,380 Freehold

Caravelle Hotel  
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

24.99% Hotel 335 388,458 Medium lease

Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside Wuhan, 
PRC

41.26% Hotel 305 296,288 Medium lease

Sheraton Saigon Hotel & Towers  
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

64.12% Hotel 485 742,156 Medium lease

W San Francisco  
San Francisco, United States

100% Hotel 411 292,168 Freehold

Sofitel New York  
New York, United States

100% Hotel 398 294,000 Freehold

Best Western Hotel Fino Osaka 
Shinsaibashi Osaka, Japan

100% Hotel 179 41,720 Freehold

Property classified as asset held for sale

Sheraton Ottawa  
Hotel Ottawa, Canada

85% Hotel 236 191,296 Freehold
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES (continued)
At 31 December 2023

Properties
Group’s 
interest Type No. of units

Gross 
floor area Lease term

(sq. ft.)

Properties classified as properties held for sale

Ocean Industrial Centre Phase II  
Rua dos Pescadores, Macau

100% Industrial 3 22,921 Short lease

Ocean Park  
530 East Coast Road  
Singapore

100% Residential 5 10,550 Freehold

Rose Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 3 11,121 Short lease

Begonia Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 4 10,548 Short lease

Orchid Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 2 5,274 Short lease

Sakura Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 23 85,261 Short lease

Lily Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 28 51,008 Short lease

Aster Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 40 113,200 Short lease

Bamboo Court  
Ocean Gardens, Macau

70.61% Residential 40 113,200 Short lease

Ocean Gardens, Macau 70.61% Car parks 743 N/A Short lease

Keck Seng Industrial Building  
Avenida de Venceslau de  
Morais, Macau

100% Car parks 3 N/A Short lease
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023
二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項

Our Properties
我們集團的物業

Sheraton Saigon Hotel & Towers, Vietnam
越南胡志明市西貢喜來登酒店

Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside, China
中國武漢晴川假日酒店

Caravelle Saigon Hotel, Vietnam
越南胡志明市帆船酒店

Best Western Osaka Hotel, Japan
日本大阪心齋橋西佳酒店
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023 (continued)

二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項（續）

Our Properties (continued)

我們集團的物業（續）

Sheraton Ottawa Hotel, Canada
加拿大渥太華喜來登酒店

Sotel New York, USA
美國紐約索菲特酒店

D e l t a  H o t e l s  b y  M a r r i o t t  T o r o n t o  A i r p o r t  & 
Conference Centre, Canada
加拿大多倫多機場會議中心德爾塔萬豪酒店

W Hotel San Francisco, USA
美國三藩市W酒店
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023 (continued)

二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項（續）

Our Properties (continued)

我們集團的物業（續）

Ocean Gardens, Macau
澳門海洋花園

Ocean Tower, Macau
澳門海洋大廈

Ocean Club, Macau
澳門海洋會所

Plaza Oceano, Macau
澳門海洋廣場
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023 (continued)

二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項（續）

Sheraton Saigon Hotel & Towers, Vietnam 
越南胡志明市西貢喜來登酒店

Tree planting at Can Gio Eco Park
種樹活動

WISH UPON THE STAR 
Christmas Tree Lighting Day with 
Christina Noble Children’s Foundation
對星許願
克里斯蒂娜貴族兒童基金會聖誕樹點燈日

Caravelle Saigon Hotel, Vietnam
越南胡志明市帆船酒店

Earth Hour
地球一小時

World Luxury Hotel Awards 2023
世界豪華酒店大獎2023
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023 (continued)

二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項（續）

Holiday Inn Wuhan Riverside, China
中國武漢晴川假日酒店

Sofitel New York, USA
美國紐約索菲特酒店

Clean the river beach
清潔河堤

2023 Forbes Travel Guide 
Recommended Award
2023 福布斯旅遊指南推薦獎

CTRIP 2023 Scenic Hotel Ranking
携程武漢美景酒店榜

2023 AAA Four Diamond Award
2023 AAA四星鑽石獎
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SUSTAINABILITY EFFORTS AND AWARDS IN 2023 (continued)

二零二三年可持續發展工作及獎項（續）

Delta Hotels by Marriott Toronto Airport, Canada
加拿大多倫多機場會議中心 德爾塔萬豪酒店

Bake Sale for SickKids Foundation
為病童籌款

Pride Parade
同志遊行
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